CITIZEN KANE

The fresh, sophisticated, and classic masterpiece, Citizen Kane (1941), is probably the world's most famous and highly-rated film, with its many remarkable scenes and performances, cinematic and narrative techniques and experimental innovations (in photography, editing, and sound). Its director, star, and producer were all the same genius individual - Orson Welles (in his film debut at age 25!), who collaborated with Herman J. Mankiewicz on the script (and also with an uncredited John Houseman), and with Gregg Toland as his talented cinematographer. [The amount of each person's contributions to the screenplay has been the subject of great debate over many decades.] Toland's camera work on Karl Freund's expressionistic horror film Mad Love (1935) exerted a profound influence on this film.
The film, budgeted at $800,000, received unanimous critical praise even at the time of its release, although it was not a commercial success (partly due to its limited distribution and delayed release by RKO due to pressure exerted by famous publisher W.R. Hearst) - until it was re-released after World War II, found well-deserved (but delayed) recognition in Europe, and then played on television.
The film engendered controversy (and efforts at suppression in early 1941 and efforts at suppression in early 1941 through intimidation, blackmail, newspaper smears, discrediting and FBI investigations) before it premiered in New York City on May 1, 1941, because it appeared to fictionalize and caricaturize certain events and individuals in the life of William Randolph Hearst - a powerful newspaper magnate and publisher. The film was accused of drawing remarkable, unflattering, and uncomplimentary parallels (especially in regards to the Susan Alexander Kane character) to real-life. The notorious battle was detailed in Thomas Lennon's and Michael Epstein's Oscar-nominated documentary The Battle Over Citizen Kane (1996), and it was retold in HBO's cable-TV film RKO 281 (1999) (the film's title refers to the project numbering for the film by the studio, before the film was formally titled): 
	Similarities (and Some Differences) Between Kane and Hearst

	Kane
	Hearst

	New York Inquirer
	San Francisco Examiner, New York Journal

	Multi-millionaire newspaper publisher, and wielder of public opinion, called "Kubla Khan"
	Same kind of press lord, "yellow journalist," and influential political figure

	Political aspirant to Presidency by campaigning as independent candidate for New York State's Governor, and by marrying the President's niece, Emily Monroe Norton
	Political aspirant to Presidency by becoming New York State's Governor

	Extravagant, palatial Florida mansion, Xanadu filled with art objects
	"The Ranch" palace at San Simeon, California, also with priceless art collection

	Souring affair/marriage with talentless 'singer' Susan Alexander (the Hays Code wouldn't permit extra-marital affair) 

(Difference: Susan Alexander suffers humiliating failure as opera singer, attempts suicide, separates from Kane)
	A beloved mistress - a young, and successful silent film actress Marion Davies

(Difference: No breakdown in Davies' unmarried relationship with Hearst)

	Kane bought Susan an opera house, and although Susan said that her ambition was to be a singer, this career goal was mostly her mother's idea
	Excessive patronage of Davies - Hearst bought Cosmopolitan Pictures - a film studio - to promote Davies' stardom as a serious actress, although she was better as a comedienne

	Character of Walter Parks Thatcher
	Similarities with financier J.P. Morgan

	Character of Boss James 'Jim' W. Gettys
	Similarities with Tammany Hall (NYC) Boss Charles Murphy


The gossip columnist Louella Parsons persuaded her newspaper boss Hearst that he was being slandered by RKO and Orson Welles' film when it was first previewed, so the Hearst-owned newspapers (and other media outlets) pressured theatres to boycott the film and also threatened libel lawsuits. Hearst also ordered his publications to completely ignore the film, and not accept advertising for other RKO projects. However, the title character Charles Foster Kane is mostly a composite of any number of powerful, colorful, and influential American individualists and financial barons in the early 20th century (e.g., Time Magazine's founder and mogul Henry Luce, Chicago newspaper head Harold McCormick, and other magnates of the time). By contrast, the real-life Hearst was born into wealth, whereas Kane was of humble birth - the son of poor boarding-house proprietors. And Kane also was separated from both his mother and his mistress, unlike Hearst.
Welles' film was the recipient of nine Oscar nominations with only one win - Best Original Screenplay (Mankiewicz and Welles). The other eight nominations included Best Picture (Orson Welles, producer), Best Actor and Best Director (Welles), Best B/W Cinematography (Toland), Best Art Direction (Perry Ferguson and Van Nest Polglase), Best Sound Recording (John Aalberg), Best Dramatic Picture Score (Bernard Herrmann with his first brilliant musical score), and Best Film Editing (Robert Wise). With his four Academy Awards nominations, Welles became the first individual to receive simultaneous nominations in those four categories. The less-lauded John Ford picture How Green Was My Valley (1941) won the Best Picture honor.
Many of the performers from Orson Welles' Mercury Theatre group made their screen debuts in the film, among them Joseph Cotten (Kane's oldest and best friend, and his newspaper's drama critic), Dorothy Comingore (Kane's second wife), Ruth Warrick (Kane's first wife), Ray Collins (Kane's political opponent), Agnes Moorehead (Kane's mother), Everett Sloane (Kane's devoted and loyal employee and business manager), Erskine Sanford (the newspaper's editor-in-chief), Paul Stewart (Kane's butler), George Couloris (Kane's legal guardian and bank manager), and William Alland (the chief investigative reporter).
More importantly, the innovative, bold film is an acknowledged milestone in the development of cinematic technique, although it 'shared' some of its techniques from Hitchcock's Rebecca (1940) and other earlier films. It uses film as an art form to energetically communicate and display a non-static view of life. Its components brought together the following aspects:
· use of a subjective camera
· unconventional lighting, including chiaroscuro, prefiguring the darkness and low-key lighting of future film noirs
· inventive use of shadows, following in the tradition of German Expressionists
· deep-focus shots with incredible depth-of field and focus from extreme foreground to extreme background (also found in Toland's earlier work in Dead End (1937), John Ford's The Long Voyage Home (1940), and Hitchcock's Rebecca (1940)) that emphasize mise-en-scene
· low-angled shots revealing ceilings in sets (a technique possibly borrowed from John Ford's Stagecoach (1939) which Welles screened numerous times)
· sparse use of revealing facial close-ups
· elaborate camera movements
· over-lapping, talk-over dialogue (exhibited earlier in Howard Hawks' His Girl Friday (1940)) and layered sound
· a cast of characters that ages throughout the film
· flashbacks and non-linear story-telling (used in earlier films, including another rags-to-riches tale starring Spencer Tracy titled The Power and the Glory (1933) with a screenplay by Preston Sturges, and RKO's A Man to Remember (1938) from director Garson Kanin and screenwriter Dalton Trumbo)
· the frequent use of transitionary dissolves or wipes
· long, uninterrupted shots or lengthy takes of sequences
Its complex and pessimistic theme of a spiritually-failed man is told from several, unreliable perspectives and points-of-view (also metaphorically communicated by the jigsaw puzzle) by several different characters (the associates and friends of the deceased) - providing a sometimes contradictory, non-sequential, and enigmatic portrait. The film tells the thought-provoking, tragic epic story of a 'rags-to-riches' child who inherited a fortune, was taken away from his humble surroundings and his father and mother, was raised by a banker, and became a fabulously wealthy, arrogant, and energetic newspaperman. He made his reputation as the generous, idealistic champion of the underprivileged, and set his egotistical mind on a political career, until those political dreams were shattered after the revelation of an ill-advised 'love-nest' affair with a singer. Kane's life was corrupted and ultimately self-destructed by a lust to fulfill the American dream of success, fame, wealth, power and immortality. After two failed marriages and a transformation into a morose, grotesque, and tyrannical monster, his final days were spent alone, morose, and unhappy before his death in a reclusive refuge of his own making - an ominous castle filled with innumerable possessions to compensate for his life's emptiness.
The discovery and revelation of the mystery of the life of the multi-millionaire publishing tycoon is determined through a reporter's search for the meaning of his single, cryptic dying word: "Rosebud" - in part, the film's plot enabling device - or McGuffin (MacGuffin). However, no-one was present to hear him utter the elusive last word. The reporter looks for clues to the word's identity by researching the newspaper publisher's life, through interviews with several of Kane's former friends and colleagues. Was it a favorite pet or nickname of a lost love? Or the name of a racehorse? At film's end, the identity of "Rosebud" is revealed, but only to the film audience. [One source, Gore Vidal - a close friend of Hearst, wildly claimed in 1989 in a short memoir in the New York Review of Books that "Rosebud" was a euphemism for the most intimate part of his long-time mistress Marion Davies' female anatomy.]
And finally, the film's title has often been copied or mirrored, as a template for the titles of other biopics or documentaries about a figure often striving for socio-political recognition, as in the following films:
· Citizen Saint (1947) about modern miracle worker Mother Frances Cabrini
· Damn Citizen (1958) about a Louisiana state politician
· Citizen Tania (1989) - about heiress Patty Hearst's abduction by the Symbionese Liberation Army
· the HBO made-for-TV Citizen Cohn (1992) - about Senator Joseph McCarthy's loathsome lawyer Roy Cohn (James Woods) of the late 40s and 50s in the HUAC
· Citizen Langlois (1995, Fr.) about pioneering film archivist Henri Langlois of the Cinematheque Francaise - with some footage from the 1941 film
· Oliver Stone's epic biography Nixon (1995) could have been titled Citizen Nixon -- it's a modern-day 'Citizen Kane' story about another tragic figure, filmed in a disjointed, non-linear or non-chronological fashion (with unexpected flashbacks) and the use of newsreel footage as Welles did, and including an argument between Nixon and his wife at the dinner table - resembling the famed breakfast table scene in Citizen Kane; the famous 18 1/2 minute gap would serve as the enigmatic 'Rosebud'
· director Alexander Payne's debut film and political satire Citizen Ruth (1996) about Ruth Stoops (Laura Dern) - a pregnant woman caught as a pawn in the middle of the abortion rights issue
· Citizen James (2000) about a young Bronx filmmaker (writer/director/star Doug E. Doug)
· the TV series Citizen Baines (2001) about an ex-politician (James Cromwell) dealing with three grown daughters
· the documentary Citizen King (2004) - about Martin Luther King, Jr. originally made for PBS' American Experience series
 The intriguing opening (a bookend to the film's closing prologue) is filled with hypnotic lap dissolves and camera movements from one sinister, mysterious image to the next, searching closer and closer and moving in. [The film's investigative opening, with the camera approaching closer and closer, may have been influenced by the beginning of Alfred Hitchcock's Rebecca (1940). Both films open and close on a matted image of a mansion in the distance.] The film's first sight is a "No Trespassing" sign hanging on a giant gate in the night's foggy mist, illuminated by the moonlight. The camera pans up the chain-link mesh gate that dissolves and changes into images of great iron flowers or oak leaves on the heavy gate. On the crest of the gate is a single, silhouetted, wrought-iron "K" initial [for Kane]. The prohibitive gate surrounds a distant, forbidding-looking castle with towers. The fairy-tale castle is situated on a man-made mountain - it is obviously the estate of a wealthy man. [The exterior of the castle resembles the one in Snow White and the Seven Dwarfs (1937).]

In a succession of views, the subjective and curious camera, acting omnisciently as it approaches toward the castle, violates the "No Trespassing" sign by entering the neglected grounds. In the private world of the castle grounds, zoo pens have been designed for exotic animals. Spider monkeys sit above a sign on one of the cages marked 'Bengal Tiger.' The prows of two empty gondolas are tied to a wooden wharf on a private lake, and the castle is reflected in the water. A statue of the Egyptian cat god stands before a bridge with a raised drawbridge/portcullis over a moat. A deserted green from the large golf course is marked with a sign needing repair (No. 16, 365 yards, Par 4). In the distance, a single, postage stamp-sized window of the castle is lit, always seen at approximately the same place in each frame. Palm trees surround a crumbling gate on the abandoned, cluttered grounds. The castle appears in a closer, medium shot. During an even closer shot of the window, the light within the window suddenly goes out. From an angle inside the turret room facing out of the enormous window, a silhouetted figure can be seen lying stiffly on a bed in the low-lit room.

The scene shifts to swirling snowflakes that fill the entire screen - here's another mysterious object that demands probing. The flakes surround a snow-covered house with snowmen around it, and in a quick pull-back, we realize it is actually a wintery scene inside a crystal glass globe or ball-paperweight in the grasping hand of an old man. [First Appearance of Glass Ball in Film] Symbolically, the individual's hand is holding the past's memories - a recollection of childhood life in a log cabin. [Psychoanalytically, the glass ball represents the mother's womb. Later in the film, it also is learned that the globe, associated with Susan, represents his first and only innocent love.]

The film's famous, first murmured, echoed word is heard uttered by huge, mustached rubbery lips that fill the screen:

R-o-s-e-b-u-d!
[In reality, no one would have heard Kane's last utterance - in this scene, he is alone when he dies, although later in the film, Raymond the butler states that he heard the last word - a statement not completely reliable. It has been speculated that everything in the film was the dying man's dream -- and the burning of Rosebud in the film's climax was Kane's last conscious thought before death.] An old man has pronounced his last dying word as the snowstorm globe is released from his grip and rolls from his relaxed hand. The glass ball bounces down two carpeted steps and shatters into tiny pieces on the marble floor. [The film's flashbacks reveal that the shattering of the glass ball is indicative of broken love.] A door opens and a white-uniformed nurse appears on screen, refracted and distorted through a curve of a sliver of shattered glass fragment from the broken globe. In a dark silhouette, she folds his arms over his chest, and then covers him with a sheet. The next view is again the lit window viewed from inside. A dissolve fades to darkness.

In an abrupt cut from his private sanctuary, a row of flags is a backdrop for a dramatic, news-digest segment of News on the March! [a simulation/parody of the actual "March of Time" series produced by Time, Inc. and its founder Henry Luce beginning in the mid-30s]. The biopic film-in-a-film is a fact-filled, authoritative newsreel or documentary that briefly covers the chronological highlights of the public life of the deceased man. The faux newsreel provides a detailed, beautifully-edited, narrative-style outline and synopsis of Kane's public life, appearing authentically scratched, grainy and archival in some segments. The structure of the narrative in the newsreel is as follows:
· Information about Xanadu and its grandeur
· Kane's career (personal, political, and financial) - interwoven
· Thatcher's confrontation with Kane for the first time in the snow
· Chronological Account of Kane's life
The test screening of the first episode of the series is titled on the first panel, soon followed by the words of a portentous, paternalistic, self-important narrator:

Obituary: Xanadu's Landlord

An explanatory title card with the words of Coleridge's poem is imposed over views of Xanadu (actually a series of shots of San Simeon). Kane and his Xanadu is compared to the legendary Kubla Khan:

In Xanadu did Kubla Khan a stately pleasure dome decree - -

Narrator of Newsreel: Legendary was Xanadu where Kubla Khan decreed his stately pleasure dome. Today, almost as legendary is Florida's Xanadu, world's largest private [views of people lounge around Xanadu and its pool] pleasure ground. Here, on the deserts of the Gulf Coast [the camera views the coastline], a private mountain was commissioned and successfully built. [Workmen are shown building the tremendous castle] One hundred thousand trees, twenty thousand tons of marble are the ingredients of Xanadu's mountain. Contents of Xanadu's palace: [crates with statues and other objects are brought into Xanadu] paintings, pictures, statues, the very stones of many another palace - a collection of everything so big it can never be catalogued or appraised, enough for ten museums - the loot of the world. [views of endless numbers of crates arriving] Xanadu's livestock: [views of horses, giraffes, rare birds, a large octopus, an elephant, donkeys, etc.] the fowl of the air, the fish of the sea, the beast of the field and jungle. Two of each, the biggest private zoo since Noah. Like the pharaohs, Xanadu's landlord leaves many stones to mark his grave. Since the pyramids, Xanadu is the costliest monument a man has built to himself.

Another explanatory title card:

In Xanadu last week was held 1941's biggest strangest funeral.

Kane's coffin emerges from Xanadu as it is borne by coffin-bearers.

Narrator: Here in Xanadu last week, Xanadu's landlord was laid to rest, a potent figure of our century, America's Kubla Khan - Charles Foster Kane.

The newspaper headline of the New York Daily Inquirer appears with a picture of Kane:

CHARLES FOSTER KANE DIES AFTER LIFETIME OF SERVICE

Entire Nation Mourns Great Publisher as Outstanding American

The paper is removed and other headlines, set in different type and styles from around the nation and world, and with conflicting opinions about Kane, are revealed, announcing his death:

The Daily Chronicle: [note the negative headlines from the Inquirer's main business competitor]

C. F. Kane Dies at Xanadu Estate

Editor's Stormy Career Comes to an End

Death of Publisher Finds Few Who Will Mourn for Him

The Chicago Globe:

DEATH CALLS PUBLISHER CHARLES KANE

Policies Swayed World

Stormy Career Ends for "U.S. Fascist No. 1"

The Minneapolis Record Herald:

KANE, SPONSOR OF DEMOCRACY, DIES

Publisher Gave Life to Nation's Service during Long Career

The San Francisco...
DEATH FINALLY COMES...

The Detroit Star:

Kane, Leader of News World, Called By Death at Xanadu

Was Master of Destiny

The El Paso Journal:

END COMES FOR CHARLES FOSTER KANE

Editor Who Instigated "War for Profit" Is Beaten by Death

France's Le Matin:

Mort du grand Editeur C.F. Kane

Spain's El Correspendencia:

El Sr. Kane Se Murio!

Other foreign language newspapers (Russian and Japanese) also announce his death:

Ezhednevnaya Gazeta (Daily Newspaper) Bednota ("The Impoverished")
S.F. Kan Velichaishij (C. F. Kane, the greatest) Izdatel' Umer (publisher died)
Izdatel' Umer v Svoyei Usad'be ("Publisher died in his mansion")
The castle's owner is Charles Foster Kane (Orson Welles), publisher of the New York Inquirer:

Another title card:

To forty-four million U.S. news buyers, more newsworthy than the names in his own headlines, was Kane himself, greatest newspaper tycoon of this or any other generation.

Narrator: Its humble beginnings in this ramshackle building, a dying daily. [Views of the old Inquirer Building] Kane's empire in its glory [A picture of a US map shows circles widening out over it] held dominion over 37 newspapers, two syndicates, a radio network, an empire upon an empire. The first of grocery stores, paper mills, apartment buildings, factories, forests, ocean liners, [a sign reads COLORADO LODE MINE CO.] an empire through which for fifty years flowed in an unending stream the wealth of the earth's third richest gold mine. [Piles of gold bullion are stacked up and a highway sign reads, COLORADO STATE LINE] Famed in American legend [Kane Jr. is pictured with his mother in a framed portrait] is the origin of the Kane fortune, how to boarding house keeper Mary Kane [a view of Kane's old home, Mrs. Kane's Boarding House] by a defaulting boarder in 1868 was left the supposedly worthless deed to an abandoned mine shaft - the Colorado Lode. [A large bucket tilts, pouring molten ore into a mold] Fifty-seven years later, [A view of the Washington DC Capitol Building] before a Congressional investigation, Walter P. Thatcher, grand old man of Wall Street, for years chief target of Kane papers' attacks on trusts, recalls a journey he made as a youth.

In front of a Congressional investigating committee, Walter Parks Thatcher (George Coulouris) recalls his journey in 1870 to Mrs. Kane's boarding house in Colorado, when he was asked to raise the young boy.

My firm had been appointed trustee by Mrs. Kane for a large fortune which she had recently acquired. It was her wish that I should take charge of this boy, this Charles Foster Kane.

Thatcher refuses to answer a Congressman's question (accompanied with laughter and confusion) about whether the boy personally attacked him after striking him in the stomach with a sled. Thatcher prefers to read a prepared statement of his opinion of Kane, and then refuses to answer any other questions:

Mr. Charles Foster Kane, in every essence of his social beliefs, and by the dangerous manner in which he has persistently attacked the American traditions of private property, initiative, and opportunity for advancement, is in fact, nothing more or less than a Communist!

That same month in New York's Union Square, where a crowd is urged to boycott Kane papers, an opinionated politician speaks:

The words of Charles Foster Kane are a menace to every working man in this land. He is today what he has always been - and always will be - a Fascist!

Narrator: And still, another opinion.

Kane orates silently into a radio microphone in front of a congratulatory, applauding crowd. A title card appears, a quote from Kane himself:

I am, have been, and will be only one thing - an American.

Another title card:

1895 to 1941

All of these years he covered, many of these he was.

Narrator: Kane urged his country's entry into one war [1898 - The Spanish-American War] - opposed participation in another [1919 - The Great War - an image of a cemetery with rows of white crosses] - swung the election to one American President at least [Kane is pictured on the platform of a train with Teddy Roosevelt] - spoke for millions of Americans, was hated by as many more. [an effigy, a caricature of Kane, is burned by a crowd] For forty years, appeared in Kane newsprint no public issue on which Kane papers took no stand, [Kane again appears with Roosevelt] no public man whom Kane himself did not support or denounce - often support [Kane is pictured with Hitler on a balcony], then denounce. [Kane never denounced - and then later supported any of his closest friends who argued with him, including his two wives, Leland and Thatcher. Because he held grudges, he couldn't easily find reconciliation.]

A title card:

Few private lives were more public.

Narrator: Twice married, twice divorced. [Kane and first wife Emily are dressed in wedding clothes, walking outside the White House] First to a president's niece, Emily Norton, who left him in 1916. [A newspaper article reads: "Family Greets Kane After Victory Speech" - his wife and young son are pictured with him outside Madison Square Garden] Died 1918 in a motor accident with their son. Sixteen years after his first marriage, two weeks after his first divorce, [At the Trenton Town Hall, newspaper reporters and photographers crowd around when Kane comes out with Susan] Kane married Susan Alexander, singer at the Town Hall in Trenton, New Jersey. [A poster from one of Susan's performances: "Lyric Theatre, On Stage, Suzan Alexander, Coming Thursday"] For Wife Two, one-time opera singing Susan Alexander, Kane built Chicago's Municipal Opera House. [The cover of an opera program: "Chicago Municipal Opera House presents Susan Alexander in Salammbo, Gala Opening" and a drawing of the Opera House] Cost: $3 million dollars. Conceived for Susan Alexander Kane, half finished before she divorced him, the still-unfinished Xanadu. Cost: No man can say.

A title card:

In politics - always a bridesmaid, never a bride.

Narrator: Kane, molder of mass opinion though he was, in all his life was never granted elective office by the voters of his country. But Kane papers were once strong indeed, [a newspaper machine rolls newspapers through, EXTRA papers move upward] and once the prize seemed almost his. In 1916, as independent candidate for governor, [a view of a banner, KANE for GOVERNOR] the best elements of the state behind him, the White House seemingly the next easy step in a lightning political career, then suddenly, less than one week before election - defeat!...

An iris opens on the Daily Chronicle screaming the headline:
CANDIDATE KANE CAUGHT IN LOVE NEST WITH 'SINGER'

The Highly Moral Mr. Kane and his Tame "Songbird"

Entrapped by Wife as Love Pirate, Kane Refuses to Quit Race
...Shameful. Ignominious. Defeat that set back for twenty years the cause of reform in the U.S., [heart-shaped framed pictures of Kane and Susan are pictured in the newspaper] forever cancelled political chances for Charles Foster Kane. [A sign on a gate reads: FACTORY CLOSED, NO TRESPASSING] [1929] [Another sign reads: CLOSED] [The signs repeat the theme of closure/death from the film's opening shot.] Then, in the first year of the Great Depression, a Kane paper closes [On the St. Louis Daily Inquirer building hangs a CLOSED sign]. For Kane in four short years: collapse. [On a map of the US, the circles diminish, leaving only a few] Eleven Kane papers merged, more sold, scrapped.
A title card:
But America Still Reads Kane Newspapers and Kane Himself Was Always News.
In 1935, returning from Europe by ship, Kane is asked by the press (the reporter was an uncredited cameo role for cinematographer Gregg Toland) on arrival in New York harbor, about contemporary politics, and the "chances for war in Europe":
Reporter: Isn't that correct?

Kane: Don't believe everything you hear on the radio. [A sly reference to Welles' own infamous 1938 radio broadcast of The War of the Worlds that sent listeners into a panic.] Read the 'Inquirer'!

Reporter: How did you find business conditions in Europe?

Kane: How did I find business conditions in Europe, Mr. Bones? With great difficulty. (He laughs heartily)

Reporter: You glad to be back, Mr. Kane?

Kane: I'm always glad to be back, young man. I'm an American. Always been an American. (Sharply) Anything else? When I was a reporter, we asked them quicker than that. Come on, young fella.

Reporter: What do you think of the chances for war in Europe?

Kane (smugly): I've talked with the responsible leaders of the Great Powers - England, France, Germany, and Italy - they're too intelligent to embark on a project which would mean the end of civilization as we now know it. You can take my word for it. There'll be no war.
In the next newsreel clip, Kane is seen at a cornerstone ceremony, clumsily dropping mortar on himself from a trowel, and then brushing the dirt off his coat. At the center of the ceremony as he lays a cornerstone, but without his customary power, he is surrounded by workmen swinging hooks and cables around him.
Narrator: Kane helped to change the world, but Kane's world now is history. The great yellow journalist himself lived to be history. Outlived his power to make it...

Kane's final days are spent at the decaying Xanadu. He is seen in old age, sitting on a lounge chair by his pool. Then, he is pushed along and wheeled forward in a wheelchair, seen by a concealed camera peeping through a cross-barred fence [This referenced a famous shot in a newsreel called Munitions, showing a hidden camera view of an 85-year old arms czar Sir Basil Zaharoff getting wheeled to his train]:

...Alone in his never-finished, already decaying pleasure palace, aloof, seldom visited, never photographed, an emperor of new strength continued to direct his failing empire, varyingly attempted to sway as he once did the destinies of a nation that had ceased to listen to him, ceased to trust him. Then last week, as it must to all men, death came to Charles Foster Kane.

A moving electric sign wraps around the exterior of a New York building - this is the famed Times Square electronic news ticker. As it travels, it spells out the words:

LATEST NEWS - CHARLES FOSTER KANE IS DEAD -

The News on the March newsreel film abruptly ends, distorting the final moments of sound.  
In the smoky projection room following the screening of the newsreel, the reporters are seen as sinister shadows striking up matches in the dark, with streams of light coming from the projection booth. [Both Joseph Cotten and future star Alan Ladd are momentarily visible in the shadowy scene.] The newsreel producer-editor Rawlston (Philip Van Zandt) is unsatisfied, speaking to the assembled group of reporters about the difficulty of getting seventy years of a man's life into a newsreel. He is disappointed because the empty newsreel doesn't have an angle and they are literally 'in the dark':

It isn't enough to tell us what a man did. You've got to tell us who he was.

Rawlston and the other reporters [viewed as anonymous, faceless individuals to 'mock' Henry Luce's staff of editors and journalists] then call to mind Kane's last word, searching for more beyond his public life, and trying to distinguish how he was different. Although Kane's character is elusive (e.g., he's an idealistic philanthropist and a materialistic egotist, and both "loved and hated"), his story is typically American: a rapid rise to fame and wealth, and a lonely decline in his failing years in his private residence - with a quick (inside joke) reference to Hearst included:

Maybe he told us all about himself on his deathbed...Yeah, maybe he didn't...All we saw on that screen was a big American...One of the biggest...But how is he any different from Ford? Or Hearst for that matter? Or John Doe...I'll tell ya, it comes from a man's dying words...What were they?...You don't read the papers...When Charles Foster Kane died, he said just one word -...Rosebud, just that one word, but who is she...What was it?...Here's a man that could have been president, who was as loved and hated and as talked about as any man in our time. But when he comes to die, he's got something on his mind called 'Rosebud.' Now what does that mean?...A racehorse he bet on once...Yeah, that didn't come in...All right, but what was the race?

While the newsreel is held up for one to two weeks, cinema newsreel reporter Jerry Thompson (William Alland) is sent out to discover the meaning of Kane's last word: "Rosebud," possibly a simple secret to Kane's mysterious, complex life. [The character of Thompson is never clearly visible or identified - he is always viewed in backlit silhouette, or from behind.] He is assigned to contact and interview as many of Kane's friends and associates as possible, who knew him over a two week period:

Get in touch with everybody that ever knew him, oh, knew him well...that manager of his, uh (snaps his fingers) - Bernstein - his second wife - she's still living...Susan Alexander Kane...She's running a nightclub in Atlantic City...See em all. Get in touch with everybody that ever worked for him, whoever loved him, whoever hated his guts. I don't mean go through the city directory, of course...Rosebud, dead or alive. It will probably turn out to be a very simple thing.

The structure of the film is not told as a traditional chronological story. Over a two week period, Thompson gathers information from four of Kane's associates and from some posthumous memoirs of Kane's ex-guardian. In a series of interlocked, semi-overlapping flashbacks and tightly-woven, personal vignettes, each of Kane's closest associates gives a different, slightly prejudiced, contradictory and inconsistent account of the Kane they knew, revealing different facets of a single personality:
· legal guardian and bank manager Thatcher (written memoirs)
· deferential personal manager/business partner Bernstein
· best friend Leland
· ex-wife Susan, Kane's second wife
· Raymond, the butler
The film essentially asks, 'how do we interpret a life?' - similar to the question filmviewers ask about Citizen Kane, 'how can we understand this film?'

Each of the five sources from which the dogged reporter receives his information serve to introduce six separate sections of the remainder of the film. The sections are not structured chronologically, yet they progressively follow the memories of Kane's life in logical stages. At the conclusion of the non-traditional, non-linear narrative, it is concluded that none of them know the implications or meaning of the word 'Rosebud' - a possible clue to the meaning of his life.

First Interview with Kane's ex-wife Susan Kane:
(1) In a striking movement after Rawlston's last words ("...a very simple thing"), the camera first views a close-up billboard picture of a provocative blonde woman - punctuated by a flash of lightning and thunderclap during a pouring thunderstorm. It then swoops up to the building's flashing neon sign announcing the tawdry woman's El Rancho floor show performance:
EL RANCHO Floor Show SUSAN ALEXANDER KANE Twice Nightly
Then, in a startling, prying movement (a spectacular crane shot), the subjective camera breaks through the sign and into the broken skylight on the building's roof and then moves down to a table inside the El Rancho Nightclub. [The nightclub roof and skylight is only a model, while the interior of the nightclub is a real film set.]

Underneath the skylight in an enclosed space, there's a seedy Atlantic City cabaret below, where showgirl Susan Alexander Kane (Dorothy Comingore) sits with her head bowed drunkenly on her arms resting on the table. A lone, sordid figure, she appears lost in her memories. She is drinking heavily by herself and very uncooperative. Thompson makes an attempt to interview her, but she will not talk to him in his first visit:

Susan: Who told you you could sit down?

Thompson: I thought maybe we could have a talk together.

Susan: Well, think again. Why don't you people leave me alone? I'm minding my own business. You mind yours...Get out of here. Get out! (hysterically)

The head nightclub waiter/captain John (Gus Schilling) brings her a mixed drink and then attempts to soften the rebuke and explain her mourning: "She just won't talk to nobody, Mr. Thompson...She'll snap out of it. Why, 'til he died, she'd just as soon talk about Mr. Kane as about anybody." After calling in to Rawlston on the phone (in a phone booth) to tell his chief that the second Mrs. Kane "won't talk," Thompson asks the waiter whether Mrs. Kane ever mentioned 'Rosebud.' After pocketing a bill to make him talk, the waiter remarks that he had asked her the same question when Kane's death hit the papers, and she responded: "She never heard of Rosebud." The scene fades quickly to black.

[Thompson speaks to Susan Kane a second time later in the film.]

The Memoirs of Walter Parks Thatcher, Kane's Legal Guardian and Bank Manager:
(2) With a stale, flat sounding note (emphasizing the headwaiter's previous comment), the camera shoots up at a statue of the late Walter Parks Thatcher, a J. P. Morgan-like figure and Kane's Wall Street financier and guardian. [This second scene, like the one just before it, is introduced by a representation or image of the character - previously a flimsy billboard of Susan, now a solid marble statue of Thatcher.] The statue's base is inscribed with the words:

WALTER PARKS THATCHER
The camera pans down the statue and 'wipes' into the austere Walter Parks Thatcher Memorial Library in Philadelphia, where Thompson visits. [The statue is, in fact, only a drawing. From there, the camera invisibly 'wipes' into the next image - the set of the library.]

At a desk, a mannish, stern and severe-looking librarian instructs him about the restricted use of Thatcher's unpublished memoirs. The sound of Thompson's footsteps echo through the marble halls of the mausoleum-like building as he is led to one of the reading room vaults (resembling a bank vault). Shafts of dusty sunlight pierce the room, as in the earlier projection room. A guard removes one of the revered volumes - a diary - and bears it in his arms toward Thompson. There, sitting at a long table, Thompson is confined to inspecting pp. 83-142, the pertinent parts of Thatcher's manuscripts-diaries-journals. He is also told that he must leave at 4:40 pm sharp. The door closes shut on the face of the subjective camera (imprisoning it and Thompson himself). Then a dissolve moves beyond the door and moves to peer over Thompson's shoulder at the pages of the book.

Thatcher's words in the memoirs are viewed in gigantic, handwritten black script on the white page in a camera pan from left to right:

I first encountered Mr. Kane in 1871.

The white margin of the page suddenly becomes a blank white page - and then dissolves into a snowy scene - a 'living memory' of what exists on the page. It's a surprising flashback to young eight-year-old Charles' (Buddy Swan) boyhood and humble beginnings on a farm in Little Salem, Colorado. Outside in a long shot, young Charles is sledding alone on a hillside in the snow. He throws a snowball at the sign on the top of the rustic wooden building - the snowball smashes against the letters that read "MRS. KANE'S BOARDING HOUSE." (His mother Mary (Agnes Moorehead), proprietress of the lonely, run-down, wooden boarding house, becomes unexpectedly wealthy when seemingly worthless mining stock certificates given her by a poor prospector/boarder in lieu of payment make her the sole owner of one of the world's great gold mines, the Colorado Lode.)

Just before being sent away, in one of the memorable deep-focus shots of the film in the famous boarding house scene, the camera moves from outside and pulls back through the window of the rural boarding house where his mother (on the left) admonishes him not to catch cold: "Be careful, Charles, pull your muffler round your neck, Charles." The camera tracks back as she turns, and states: "I'll sign those papers now, Mr. Thatcher," and then walks the length of the wood-paneled parlor with Thatcher into the adjoining room. She moves to the center of the frame, obscuring the view of the window (and her son). [If one watches carefully, the camera moves right through where the table is located in the room, before coming to rest. Later, when the camera follows and tracks Mrs. Kane back to the window after she has signed the legal papers, it appears that she walks 'through' where the table was positioned.]

Inside the cabin, the camera remains stationary at the table where they negotiate Charles' future. With Kane's rustic, "uneducated" father anxiously haranguing them on the left of the frame (complaining: "You people seem to forget that I'm the boy's father...I don't hold with signing my boy away to any bank as guardeen..."), well-dressed Thatcher officiously sits next to Mrs. Kane on the right (in close-up) as she signs legal papers to appoint Thatcher as Charles' guardian. The boy can be seen as a tiny figure (and heard yelling "The Union forever!") playing with his sled in the snow through the distant window in the center of the frame. The boy's stern, emotionally-controlled mother gives her child up and signs the papers.

She appoints the banking firm of Thatcher and Company to manage all her financial interests, to administer her estate, and to act as trustees of the fortune and guardian of her son. Mr. and Mrs. Kane will each be given $50,000 a year - the rest of the fortune will be placed in a trust fund for Charles until he reaches maturity at age 25, at which time he would come into complete possession.

Rather than remaining there, Charles is traumatically uprooted from his mother - a scene wrought with Oedipal meaning. His subsequent life is forever influenced by this separation and void in his life. Outside, the boy is in front and center in the frame next to his mother, with Mr. Thatcher, his new legal guardian and surrogate father, half-obscured behind Mrs. Kane. Mr. Kane is far in the background (insignificantly positioned). Thatcher attempts to shake the boy's hand:

Why, we're going to have some fine times together, really we are, Charles. Now, shall we shake hands? (Charles pulls back) Oh, come, come, come, I'm not as frightening as all that, am I? Now, what do you say? Let's shake.

Upset and reluctant to leave, the bratty boy violently rams Thatcher with his sled and then is struck by his father. He glares knowingly at Thatcher, aware that he is being taken away from his innocent childhood and mother - sent east to be cultured, educated and raised under Thatcher's stern guidance. After he has departed, the camera shot dissolves to a long-held closeup of Charles' abandoned sled on a snowbank - it is gradually covered by a cold snowfall - a preserved (and buried) symbol of vanished innocence, loss and purity. Significantly, the name of the sled - Rosebud - is completely obscured - although it is symbolic of the 'cold' life where Charles will be taken. A train whistle is heard leaving town, symbolic of his unhappy transfer to Chicago.
[The scene in the glass paperweight is of a cottage in a snowstorm, strikingly similar to Mrs. Kane's Boarding House of Charles' youth.]
Through a quick-cut edit/dissolve from the white snow scene to white wrapping paper in a Victorian-style Christmas celebration scene, Charles opens a present in front of his guardian's Christmas tree - it is a replacement sled for the one left behind. [This sled is named "Crusader" and is emblazoned with a decorative helmet of a medieval knight. It is NOT the same sled that burns in the furnace at the film's conclusion - the "Rosebud" sled embossed with a rose.] Thatcher wishes the young Kane "Merry Christmas..." The young boy snarls back: "Merry Christmas," obviously unsatisfied by the present and making life miserable for Thatcher. Thatcher continues his sentence decades later (in a "lightning mix" - two scenes connected by the soundtrack but not by the visual images) "...and a happy New Year" just before his protege's 25th birthday. [This filmic technique is also called a 'flash-forward' in time.]

Having reached legal maturity, and with the proper background and training to manage his acquired wealth, the full estate becomes his and he acquires control. Thatcher dictates a memo to that effect: "...may I again remind you that your twenty-fifth birthday which is now approaching marks your complete independence from the firm of Thatcher and Company as well as the assumption by you of full responsibility for the world's sixth-largest private fortune."

In a memorable scene, Kane responds in a manner counter to Thatcher's wishes, interested in taking charge of only one small part of his holdings:

Sorry but I'm not interested in gold mines, oil wells, shipping or real estate...One item on your list intrigues me, the New York Inquirer, a little newspaper I understand we acquired in a foreclosure proceeding. Please don't sell it. I'm coming back to America to take charge. I think it would be fun to run a newspaper. I think it would be fun to run a newspaper. Grrr.

Soon, Kane uses the paper to attack trusts, Thatcher and others among America's financial elite. Headlines of the Inquirer blare out the expose in a montage of early Inquirer newspaper headlines: "TRACTION TRUST EXPOSED," "TRACTION TRUST BLEEDS PUBLIC WHITE," and "TRACTION TRUST SMASHED BY INQUIRER." Other social causes are heralded by the paper: "LANDLORDS REFUSE TO CLEAR SLUMS!!," and "INQUIRER WINS SLUM FIGHT." The paper also attacks capitalistic Wall Street itself: "WALL STREET BACKS COPPER SWINDLE!!" and "COPPER ROBBERS INDICTED!"

Thatcher is enraged and indignantly confronts the young publisher in the Inquirer office about his newspaper's criticism of banks, privilege and corruption. Kane is seated at his desk facing the camera and sipping coffee as Thatcher stands over him with his back to the camera asking: "Is that really your idea of how to run a newspaper?" Arrogantly but with a soft-spoken voice, Kane replies:

I don't know how to run a newspaper, Mr. Thatcher. I just try everything I can think of.

Thatcher explodes at him, accusing him of following a radical policy at the paper of concocting stories: "You know perfectly well there's not the slightest proof that this Armada is off the Jersey coast." Kane is informed by his assistant Bernstein (Everett Sloane) that a correspondent named Wheeler in Cuba has sent a communique: "Girls delightful in Cuba stop. Could send you prose poems about scenery but don't feel right spending your money stop. There is no war in Cuba. Signed, Wheeler." Kane calmly tells his assistant to answer the war correspondent [a dictation that echoes one of William Randolph Heart's most famous quotes in the yellow press to artist Frederic Remington regarding the 1896 Spanish-American War]: "...you provide the prose poems, I'll provide the war."

Soon, Thatcher sits down and Kane explains how he is really "two people" - he is both a major stockholder in the Public Transit (he owns "eighty-two thousand, three hundred and sixty-four shares of Public Transit Preferred"), a trust he is attacking, and the dutiful publisher of a newspaper representing the interests of the public against the trust. Kane stands up by the end of the scene, towering over Thatcher, explaining:

It's also my pleasure to see to it that decent, hard-working people in this community aren't robbed blind by a pack of money-mad pirates, just because they haven't had anybody to look after their interests...If I don't look after the interests of the underprivileged, maybe somebody else will, maybe somebody without any money or property...and that would be too bad!

Thatcher reminds Kane that his philanthropic paper is losing a million dollars a year. Kane blithely jokes that "at the rate of a million dollars a year, I'll have to close this place - in sixty years."

The next scene is "in the winter of year 1929" (at the start of the Great Depression after the Crash), much earlier than the predicted year for the demise of the paper. [The year is seen in an enlarged script, black on blinding white, as the camera pans from left to right over a handwritten sentence in a document.] Kane's general business manager Bernstein reads a typed statement regarding the newspaper - Kane "relinquishes all control thereof...and agrees to abandon all claims..." In the scene once composed, Thatcher sits to the left, with Bernstein on the right, while Kane forms the apex of the three in the shot. [Welles introduces each character in the scene one by one. First, only Bernstein is in the scene, then Thatcher is added - when Bernstein lowers his paper, and then Kane walks into the scene from the right.]

Emphasizing his ignominious fall and subsequent dependency, Kane interrupts the reading while walking away into the distant background in the middle of the shot - to stand before what first appears to be a normal-sized window. He acknowledges that the paper is bankrupt by saying, "which means we're bust." In a deep-focus, depth-of-field shot that fools the eye about the size and scale of the window in view, Kane stands under the huge, high window with his back to the proceedings in his cavernous office - his diminished size symbolizes his great loss. [The shot recalls another scene earlier in the film, when young Kane is in the distance in the outdoor snow, and his mother signs an agreement with Thatcher inside their cabin.]

Thatcher takes over much of Kane's power and control of his newspaper holdings in the name of the bank. Thatcher criticizes Kane's methods: "You never made a single investment, always used money to..." Giving himself an honest appraisal, Kane finishes the sentence while he signs the papers to give away his newspapers:
...to buy things. Buy things. My mother should have chosen a less reliable banker. Well, I always gagged on that silver spoon.
[This is Kane's first of only two mentions of his own mother in the film.] Then, he congratulates himself in a remark directed at Bernstein: "You know, Mr. Bernstein, if I hadn't been very rich, I might have been a really great man...I think I did pretty well under the circumstances." But it is Thatcher who responds: "What would you like to have been?" Kane shows his contempt for Thatcher in his brooding answer, implying that he has turned into something like Thatcher himself: "Everything you hate!"

The scene returns to the Thatcher library, where Thompson is told that his time is up for the day. The attendant asks if he has found what he was looking for in his "very rare privilege" at the library. Thompson, of course, replies that he has not, and then impulsively and playfully asks her: "You're not Rosebud, are you?"

Interview with Kane's personal manager Bernstein:
(3) Next, Thompson leans forward to interview Bernstein in his New York City office in front of a fire in the hearth. Kane's portrait above the mantle dominates the scene. Bernstein was hired as Kane's devoted assistant for the paper, his general business manager. Bernstein is seated in a flat, high-backed leather chair with his arms folded on his shiny polished desktop, reflecting his image. His eyesight is failing, evidenced by a large magnifying glass in front of him. He is also free of self-importance: "Who's a busy man, me? I'm chairman of the board. I've got nothing but time."

Thompson immediately asks his essential question about the meaning of Rosebud:
Thompson: We thought maybe if we could find out what he meant by his last words, as he was dying. Bernstein: That Rosebud, huh? Maybe some girl. There were a lot of them back in the early days.
Bernstein reminisces about an unforgettable moment he had experienced years earlier, one of the film's own unforgettable moments:

A fellow can remember a lot of things you wouldn't think he'd remember. You take me. One day back in 1896, I was crossing over to Jersey on the ferry. And as we pulled out, there was another ferry pulling in. And on it there was a girl waiting to get off. A white dress she had on. She was carrying a white parasol. I only saw her for one second. She didn't see me at all. But I'll bet a month hasn't gone by since that I hadn't thought of that girl.

Revealing his sympathy for Susan, he remembered to call her after Kane's death: "I called her myself the day after he died. I thought maybe somebody ought to." Bernstein reminds Thompson of his long-term loyalty and faithfulness to Kane: "From before the beginning, young fellow, and now it's after the end." In other memories, Bernstein believes that Thatcher "was the biggest darn fool I ever met...well, it's no trick to make a lot of money, if all you want is to make a lot of money. You take Mr. Kane, it wasn't money he wanted. Thatcher never did figure him out. Sometimes, even I couldn't." As he makes this observation about Thatcher, he goes to the ticker-tape machine near the rain-spattered window to look at the Wall Street prices.

Bernstein then remembers the first day that Kane took over the Inquirer with his college friend Jedediah Leland (Joseph Cotten). In a flashback, the camera moves down the side of the Inquirer building and then dissolves to a view of the inside of a hansom carriage, where fashionably-dressed dandies Kane and Leland are riding. After climbing out of the carriage, it moves out of view, and they are seen entering the offices of the failing newspaper for the first time. And then Bernstein's wagon pulls up in the same view, bearing chairs and a iron bedstead (possibly from the Kane Boarding House) and Bernstein himself atop the delivery. They are welcomed by a Dickensian character, a Mr. Herbert Carter (Erskine Sanford), the silly editor-in-chief, who turns in a self-important half-circle, rings a little bell, and descends from his platform to approach them. Kane greets him very politely, after Carter shakes hands with Leland - mistaking him for Kane. The senior Carter continues to be disoriented by mistaking Kane for Leland. Kane appoints Leland to be the paper's dramatic critic:

This is Mr. Leland...our new dramatic critic. I hope I haven't made a mistake, Jedediah. It is dramatic critic you want to be, isn't it?

The rest of the paper's staff stand around at attention. In the confusion and changing of the guard, Bernstein noisily tumbles over items to be moved into the office. Kane strides over to Carter's office, which the aging editor blocks with his body, reluctant to relinquish control and power over to the new publisher. Carter has been keeping the entire operation open for only twelve hours a day. A youthful, energetic Kane describes his plan to change how the paper will be run - he will evict Carter from his office and move his bed and furnishings in for a new round-the-clock operation: "Mr. Carter. I'm going to live right here in your office as long as I have to...the news goes on for twenty-four hours a day." Shortly thereafter, the much-disgruntled Carter stands over the seated Kane as the new occupant of his private sanctum cheerfully remakes the rules.

Kane's first editorial idea to build middle-class paper circulation [symbolic of his own personal popularity] is to sensationalize the front-page, three-column headline story in the Chronicle about the disappearance of a woman named Mrs. Harry Silverstone in Brooklyn:

Kane: Now look, Mr. Carter, here's a front-page story in the Chronicle about a Mrs. Harry Silverstone in Brooklyn who's missing. Now, she's probably murdered. Here's a picture of her in the Chronicle. Why isn't there something about it in the Inquirer?

Carter: 'Cause we're running a newspaper...

[Kane's tactic to take on the Chronicle with his Inquirer mirrors Hearst's own battle of his paper, the Journal against Pulitzer's World.] He intends to turn his paper into a tabloid with fabricated, bold, front-page headlines to increase readership - he will transform the Silverstone disappearance into a lurid, scandal-sheet murder case:

If the headline is big enough, it makes the news big enough.

Opposed and dismayed by the tactic, Carter sputters at him: "There's no proof that that woman is murdered, or even that she's dead...It's not our function to report the gossip of housewives. If we were interested in that kind of thing, Mr. Kane, we could fill the paper twice over daily." Kane makes no secret that his intention is to transform the genteel journalistic paper: "Mr. Carter, that's the kind of thing we are going to be interested in, from now on."

Kane instructs Carter to send his best reporter (masquerading as a detective from the central office) to see Mr. Silverstone in Brooklyn, with instructions that unless he produces Mrs. Silverstone at once, the Inquirer will have him arrested. "If Mr. Silverstone gets suspicious and asks to see your man's badge, your man is to get indignant and call Mr. Silverstone an anarchist, loudly, so the neighbors can hear!" Although Carter voices his objections, he is conspiratorially surrounded on both sides by Kane and Leland and must give in. As a forcefully-evicted and flustered Mr. Carter leaves the New York Inquirer's building (an artist's rendering), a newspaper boy hawks the competing paper's headlines on the street corner.

In the next scene preceded by a dissolve from the previous scene, the camera slowly moves forward toward Kane who leans against the office window, writing on a piece of paper held against the window glass. Jedediah looks out at the Chronicle newsboy crying the headlines. Another dissolve moves through the window and into the room, where they have been up all night.

Jedediah: We'll be on the street soon, Charlie, another ten minutes.

Bernstein: (chiming in) Three hours and fifty minutes late, but we did it!

After remaking the front page four times in one night, and finishing their first paper almost four hours behind schedule, Kane faces Jedediah and Bernstein and suddenly announces: "I've got to make the New York Inquirer as important to New York as the gas in that light." [Ironically, electric light made gaslight obsolete in the early 20th century. The Gaslight Era ended around 1915.] Kane reads outloud the first editorial that he has written, a just-completed "Declaration of Principles" that crusadesfor the downtrodden and becomes a servant and an idealistic champion of the people:

Bernstein: You don't want to make any promises, Mr. Kane, that you don't want to keep.

Kane: These will be kept. 'I'll provide the people of this city with a daily paper that will tell all the news honestly. I will also provide them...'

Jedediah: That's the second sentence you've started with 'I'.

Kane: People are gonna know who's responsible. Now they're gonna get the truth in the Inquirer, quickly and simply and entertainingly and no special interests are gonna be allowed to interfere with that truth. (continuing with the declaration) 'I will also provide them with a fighting and tireless champion of their rights as citizens and as human beings. Signed, Charles Foster Kane.'

Kane instructs Solly, the typesetter, to remake the front page to include his "Declaration of Principles" as a boxed item on the front page. Leland states his wish to have Kane's original hand-written document of principles returned to him, sensing its significance:

I'd like to keep that particular piece of paper myself. I have a hunch it might turn out to be something pretty important, a document...like the Declaration of Independence, and the Constitution, and my first report card at school.

The camera shows a close-up of the front page where the 'Declaration of Principles' are displayed in a large box. As the camera pulls back, it gradually reveals the one bundled stack of Inquirer papers in a large room filled with many stacks of newspapers. Through the Inquirer's front window, Leland, Bernstein, and Kane (after a long night) are seen looking out and watching newsboys hawking the morning's paper. The paper's meager circulation figures are painted on the window: 26,000.

The next shot is a similar one - the three are reflected in the front window of their competitor, the Chronicle, glumly staring at their rival paper's circulation figure of 495,000. Reflected in the window is a portrait picture of the Chronicle's staff - nine of the best journalists in the world, captioned: "THE GREATEST NEWSPAPER STAFF IN THE WORLD." With Leland and Bernstein, Kane discusses the possibility of taking his rival over - a formidable task. As the camera pans forward toward the staff picture, in a famous, clever transition shot, the Chronicle's staff picture hanging on the wall in the competing paper's office suddenly comes to life. (In the intervening six years, Kane has attracted the top newsmen of his rival by offering them high ideals and salaries - he buys the Chronicle's renowned staff.)

The nine staff, that took twenty years for the Chronicle to assemble, are having their picture taken six years later, now as part of the Inquirer's staff! Kane is holding a party in their honor to celebrate their wholesale switch (by acquisition) to the Inquirer:

Six years ago, I looked at a picture of the world's greatest newspapermen. I felt like a kid in front of a candy store. Well tonight, six years later, I got my candy, all of it. (A photographer's loud flash mechanism punctuates his words) Welcome, gentlemen, to the Inquirer. Make up an extra copy of that picture and send it to the Chronicle, will you please? It will make you all happy to learn that our circulation this morning was the greatest in New York, 684,000.

Bernstein corrects: "684,132!" Kane has successfully built the paper into the best-selling newspaper in the city. At the celebration party held in the city room of the Inquirer, a long narrow table is covered with champagne bottles and surrounded by newspaper staff - another scene with deep-focus photography. At Kane's end of the table, an initial "K" ice-sculpture stands - frozen inside it is a front-page headline that welcomes the new staff. At the other end of the table, there are two carved-ice busts that are caricatures of Leland ("Broadway Jed" Leland) and Bernstein ("Mr. Big Business" Bernstein), and they frame the screen as Kane talks to everyone. Kane banters to the staff about his upcoming vacation to Europe and his fetishistic penchant for acquiring and collecting artwork - in particular, statues [symbolic of people that can be possessed and controlled]:

Kane: I promised my doctor for some time now that I'd leave when I could. I now realize that I can't.

Bernstein: Say, Mr. Kane, as long as you're promising, there's a lot of pictures and statues in Europe you haven't bought yet.

Kane: You can't blame me, Mr. Bernstein. They've been making statues for two thousand years, and I've only been buying for five.

Bernstein: Promise me, Mr. Kane.

Kane: I promise you, Mr. Bernstein.

Bernstein: Thank you.

Kane: Mr. Bernstein?

Bernstein: Yes?

Kane: You don't expect me to keep any of those promises, do you?

With his fingers in his mouth, Kane whistles, signalling a line of marching band members to enter, dressed in the costumes of Catherine the Great's Russia. They are followed by dancing chorus girls carrying rifles, in keeping with Kane's interest in the growing conflict in Spain. He jests to Leland when they appear, suggesting support of jingoistic attitudes in his paper to encourage US war-mongering and entrance into the Spanish-American War (1898) [an obvious reference to William Randolph Hearst's editorial attitudes in his own paper regarding Latin America]:

Kane: Are we going to declare war on Spain or are we not?

Leland: (tersely disapproving) The Inquirer already has.

Kane: You long-faced, over-dressed anarchist. 

Leland: I am not over-dressed.

A rousing, intricately-edited song and dance number is performed like a stage show led by a baton-wielding comic named Charles Bennett (in a white-striped blazer and a straw hat). The crowd listens as Kane is given a tribute. The chorus girls, up-lit from below, echo some of the comic's lines. Soon, bachelor Charlie joins the chorus girls in the dance routine:

There is a man - a certain man

And for the poor you may be sure

That he'll do all he can!

Who is this one?

This fav'rite son?

Just by his action

Has the Traction magnates on the run?

Who loves to smoke?

Enjoys a joke?

Who wouldn't get a bit upset

If he were really broke?

With wealth and fame

He's still the same

I'll bet you five you're not alive

If you don't know his name

What is his name?...

It's Charlie Kane.

CROWD: It's Mister Kane.

He doesn't like that Mister

He likes good old Charlie Kane.

Who says a miss Was made to kiss? And when he meets one always tries To do exactly this? Who buys the food? Who buys the drinks? Who thinks that dough was made to spend? And acts the way he thinks? Now is it Joe? CROWD: No, no, no, no! I'll bet you ten you aren't men If you don't really know!

Kane has succeeded in becoming a much-respected public figure. During the celebratory singing and dancing after he steals a kiss from one of the showgirls, he suddenly removes his jacket and tosses it towards the camera (in the direction of Leland and Bernstein). Leland catches the flying jacket, a tremendous three-dimensional effect.

While Charlie dances in the background with the troupe (and his playful image with the girls is often reflected in the glass of the window), Leland (on the left) and Bernstein (on the right wearing a Rough Rider's hat) in the foreground simultaneously speak about the Chronicle staff. Bored, unimpressed, resistant and already slightly disillusioned by Kane's brash ambitions, Leland reminds Bernstein:

Leland: These men who were with the Chronicle. Weren't they just as devoted to the Chronicle politics as they are now to our policies?

Bernstein: Sure, they're just like anybody else. They got work to do, they do it! Only they happen to be the best men in the business! 

Leland: Do we stand for the same things the Chronicle stands for, Bernstein?

Bernstein: Certainly not. Listen, Mr. Kane, he'll have them changed to his kind of newspapermen in a week!

Leland: There's always a chance, of course, that they'll change Mr. Kane, without his knowing it.

While Kane is traveling on a treasure-hunting trip to Europe, Leland and Bernstein remain behind to unpack and store the sculptures in the offices of the Inquirer already crowded with statues that Kane has acquired and sent back for his collection. Bernstein receives a cable from Kane in Paris and joyously shares the news with Leland: "Look, he wants to buy the world's biggest diamond." Leland describes why he didn't accompany Kane to Europe - he would have hampered Kane's pursuit of pleasure:
Leland: Bernstein, am I a stuffed shirt? Am I a horse-faced hypocrite? Am I a New England schoolmarm? Bernstein: (revealing himself) Yes. If you thought I'd answer you any different from what Mr. Kane tells you, well, I wouldn't.
Bernstein clarifies the object of Kane's pursuit - he's not only collecting material objects and statues, but he has transited to a new stage of his life:

He's collecting somebody that's collecting diamonds. Anyway, he ain't only collecting statues.

The staff surround a close-up of a large winner's cup as Bernstein reads the Welcome message engraved on it: "Welcome Home Mr. Kane From 467 Employees of the New York Inquirer." A dapper Mr. Kane returns from his travels and bursts through the office doors, dressed in a white outfit. The camera reverses itself and follows his stride through the assembled group of editors. Kane nervously and hurriedly presents a "little social announcement" to the society editor, Miss Townsend.

One staffer alerts everyone to the view he sees from the upstairs window as he looks down on Kane's open carriage. Everyone dashes over to see Kane's pretty new fiancee riding in the carriage, framed in the window. The society editor gushes after reading the announcement out loud:
Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Monroe Norton announce the engagement of their daughter Emily Monroe Norton to Mr. Charles Foster Kane.
Emily Norton (Ruth Warrick) is the daughter of a senator and the niece of the President of the United States - a stepping-stone to the White House for Kane. During Kane's upward rise to power, youthful idealism as a prime motivator is replaced by patriarchal power. Bernstein speculates: "Before he's through, she'll be a President's wife." The staff waves farewell as the carriage pulls away - their faces are seen in the windows behind the large letters R E and R on the outside of the Inquirer's building.

Bernstein's adulations and reminiscences fade back to his office, where it is now nighttime, and the rain has stopped. He concludes his thoughts: "Miss Emily Norton was no Rosebud...It ended. And there was Susan. That ended too..." Bernstein speculates about Kane's final word - after his tragic decline:

Maybe that was something he lost. Mr. Kane was a man who lost almost everything he had.

Bernstein then suggests that Thompson go and visit Mr. Leland. Although he admits that Leland was "right" in disagreeing with Kane's exaggerated rhetoric, reformist politics, jingoistic attitudes and yellow-journalistic tactics surrounding the Spanish-American War, Bernstein nevertheless defends Kane:

Of course, he [Leland] and Mr. Kane didn't exactly see eye to eye. You take the Spanish-American War. I guess Mr. Leland was right. That was Mr. Kane's war. We didn't really have anything to fight about. But do you think if it hadn't been for that war of Mr. Kanes', we'd have the Panama Canal?

Bernstein's final words express his realism about old age and death: "Old age, it's the only disease, Mr. Thompson, that you don't look forward to being cured of."

Interview with Kane's personal manager Bernstein:
(3) Next, Thompson leans forward to interview Bernstein in his New York City office in front of a fire in the hearth. Kane's portrait above the mantle dominates the scene. Bernstein was hired as Kane's devoted assistant for the paper, his general business manager. Bernstein is seated in a flat, high-backed leather chair with his arms folded on his shiny polished desktop, reflecting his image. His eyesight is failing, evidenced by a large magnifying glass in front of him. He is also free of self-importance: "Who's a busy man, me? I'm chairman of the board. I've got nothing but time."

Thompson immediately asks his essential question about the meaning of Rosebud:
Thompson: We thought maybe if we could find out what he meant by his last words, as he was dying. Bernstein: That Rosebud, huh? Maybe some girl. There were a lot of them back in the early days.
Bernstein reminisces about an unforgettable moment he had experienced years earlier, one of the film's own unforgettable moments:

A fellow can remember a lot of things you wouldn't think he'd remember. You take me. One day back in 1896, I was crossing over to Jersey on the ferry. And as we pulled out, there was another ferry pulling in. And on it there was a girl waiting to get off. A white dress she had on. She was carrying a white parasol. I only saw her for one second. She didn't see me at all. But I'll bet a month hasn't gone by since that I hadn't thought of that girl.

Revealing his sympathy for Susan, he remembered to call her after Kane's death: "I called her myself the day after he died. I thought maybe somebody ought to." Bernstein reminds Thompson of his long-term loyalty and faithfulness to Kane: "From before the beginning, young fellow, and now it's after the end." In other memories, Bernstein believes that Thatcher "was the biggest darn fool I ever met...well, it's no trick to make a lot of money, if all you want is to make a lot of money. You take Mr. Kane, it wasn't money he wanted. Thatcher never did figure him out. Sometimes, even I couldn't." As he makes this observation about Thatcher, he goes to the ticker-tape machine near the rain-spattered window to look at the Wall Street prices.

Bernstein then remembers the first day that Kane took over the Inquirer with his college friend Jedediah Leland (Joseph Cotten). In a flashback, the camera moves down the side of the Inquirer building and then dissolves to a view of the inside of a hansom carriage, where fashionably-dressed dandies Kane and Leland are riding. After climbing out of the carriage, it moves out of view, and they are seen entering the offices of the failing newspaper for the first time. And then Bernstein's wagon pulls up in the same view, bearing chairs and a iron bedstead (possibly from the Kane Boarding House) and Bernstein himself atop the delivery. They are welcomed by a Dickensian character, a Mr. Herbert Carter (Erskine Sanford), the silly editor-in-chief, who turns in a self-important half-circle, rings a little bell, and descends from his platform to approach them. Kane greets him very politely, after Carter shakes hands with Leland - mistaking him for Kane. The senior Carter continues to be disoriented by mistaking Kane for Leland. Kane appoints Leland to be the paper's dramatic critic:

This is Mr. Leland...our new dramatic critic. I hope I haven't made a mistake, Jedediah. It is dramatic critic you want to be, isn't it?

The rest of the paper's staff stand around at attention. In the confusion and changing of the guard, Bernstein noisily tumbles over items to be moved into the office. Kane strides over to Carter's office, which the aging editor blocks with his body, reluctant to relinquish control and power over to the new publisher. Carter has been keeping the entire operation open for only twelve hours a day. A youthful, energetic Kane describes his plan to change how the paper will be run - he will evict Carter from his office and move his bed and furnishings in for a new round-the-clock operation: "Mr. Carter. I'm going to live right here in your office as long as I have to...the news goes on for twenty-four hours a day." Shortly thereafter, the much-disgruntled Carter stands over the seated Kane as the new occupant of his private sanctum cheerfully remakes the rules.

Kane's first editorial idea to build middle-class paper circulation [symbolic of his own personal popularity] is to sensationalize the front-page, three-column headline story in the Chronicle about the disappearance of a woman named Mrs. Harry Silverstone in Brooklyn:

Kane: Now look, Mr. Carter, here's a front-page story in the Chronicle about a Mrs. Harry Silverstone in Brooklyn who's missing. Now, she's probably murdered. Here's a picture of her in the Chronicle. Why isn't there something about it in the Inquirer?

Carter: 'Cause we're running a newspaper...

[Kane's tactic to take on the Chronicle with his Inquirer mirrors Hearst's own battle of his paper, the Journal against Pulitzer's World.] He intends to turn his paper into a tabloid with fabricated, bold, front-page headlines to increase readership - he will transform the Silverstone disappearance into a lurid, scandal-sheet murder case:

If the headline is big enough, it makes the news big enough.

Opposed and dismayed by the tactic, Carter sputters at him: "There's no proof that that woman is murdered, or even that she's dead...It's not our function to report the gossip of housewives. If we were interested in that kind of thing, Mr. Kane, we could fill the paper twice over daily." Kane makes no secret that his intention is to transform the genteel journalistic paper: "Mr. Carter, that's the kind of thing we are going to be interested in, from now on."

Kane instructs Carter to send his best reporter (masquerading as a detective from the central office) to see Mr. Silverstone in Brooklyn, with instructions that unless he produces Mrs. Silverstone at once, the Inquirer will have him arrested. "If Mr. Silverstone gets suspicious and asks to see your man's badge, your man is to get indignant and call Mr. Silverstone an anarchist, loudly, so the neighbors can hear!" Although Carter voices his objections, he is conspiratorially surrounded on both sides by Kane and Leland and must give in. As a forcefully-evicted and flustered Mr. Carter leaves the New York Inquirer's building (an artist's rendering), a newspaper boy hawks the competing paper's headlines on the street corner.

In the next scene preceded by a dissolve from the previous scene, the camera slowly moves forward toward Kane who leans against the office window, writing on a piece of paper held against the window glass. Jedediah looks out at the Chronicle newsboy crying the headlines. Another dissolve moves through the window and into the room, where they have been up all night.

Jedediah: We'll be on the street soon, Charlie, another ten minutes.

Bernstein: (chiming in) Three hours and fifty minutes late, but we did it!

After remaking the front page four times in one night, and finishing their first paper almost four hours behind schedule, Kane faces Jedediah and Bernstein and suddenly announces: "I've got to make the New York Inquirer as important to New York as the gas in that light." [Ironically, electric light made gaslight obsolete in the early 20th century. The Gaslight Era ended around 1915.] Kane reads outloud the first editorial that he has written, a just-completed "Declaration of Principles" that crusadesfor the downtrodden and becomes a servant and an idealistic champion of the people:

Bernstein: You don't want to make any promises, Mr. Kane, that you don't want to keep.

Kane: These will be kept. 'I'll provide the people of this city with a daily paper that will tell all the news honestly. I will also provide them...'

Jedediah: That's the second sentence you've started with 'I'.

Kane: People are gonna know who's responsible. Now they're gonna get the truth in the Inquirer, quickly and simply and entertainingly and no special interests are gonna be allowed to interfere with that truth. (continuing with the declaration) 'I will also provide them with a fighting and tireless champion of their rights as citizens and as human beings. Signed, Charles Foster Kane.'

Kane instructs Solly, the typesetter, to remake the front page to include his "Declaration of Principles" as a boxed item on the front page. Leland states his wish to have Kane's original hand-written document of principles returned to him, sensing its significance:

I'd like to keep that particular piece of paper myself. I have a hunch it might turn out to be something pretty important, a document...like the Declaration of Independence, and the Constitution, and my first report card at school.

The camera shows a close-up of the front page where the 'Declaration of Principles' are displayed in a large box. As the camera pulls back, it gradually reveals the one bundled stack of Inquirer papers in a large room filled with many stacks of newspapers. Through the Inquirer's front window, Leland, Bernstein, and Kane (after a long night) are seen looking out and watching newsboys hawking the morning's paper. The paper's meager circulation figures are painted on the window: 26,000.

The next shot is a similar one - the three are reflected in the front window of their competitor, the Chronicle, glumly staring at their rival paper's circulation figure of 495,000. Reflected in the window is a portrait picture of the Chronicle's staff - nine of the best journalists in the world, captioned: "THE GREATEST NEWSPAPER STAFF IN THE WORLD." With Leland and Bernstein, Kane discusses the possibility of taking his rival over - a formidable task. As the camera pans forward toward the staff picture, in a famous, clever transition shot, the Chronicle's staff picture hanging on the wall in the competing paper's office suddenly comes to life. (In the intervening six years, Kane has attracted the top newsmen of his rival by offering them high ideals and salaries - he buys the Chronicle's renowned staff.)

The nine staff, that took twenty years for the Chronicle to assemble, are having their picture taken six years later, now as part of the Inquirer's staff! Kane is holding a party in their honor to celebrate their wholesale switch (by acquisition) to the Inquirer:

Six years ago, I looked at a picture of the world's greatest newspapermen. I felt like a kid in front of a candy store. Well tonight, six years later, I got my candy, all of it. (A photographer's loud flash mechanism punctuates his words) Welcome, gentlemen, to the Inquirer. Make up an extra copy of that picture and send it to the Chronicle, will you please? It will make you all happy to learn that our circulation this morning was the greatest in New York, 684,000.

Bernstein corrects: "684,132!" Kane has successfully built the paper into the best-selling newspaper in the city. At the celebration party held in the city room of the Inquirer, a long narrow table is covered with champagne bottles and surrounded by newspaper staff - another scene with deep-focus photography. At Kane's end of the table, an initial "K" ice-sculpture stands - frozen inside it is a front-page headline that welcomes the new staff. At the other end of the table, there are two carved-ice busts that are caricatures of Leland ("Broadway Jed" Leland) and Bernstein ("Mr. Big Business" Bernstein), and they frame the screen as Kane talks to everyone. Kane banters to the staff about his upcoming vacation to Europe and his fetishistic penchant for acquiring and collecting artwork - in particular, statues [symbolic of people that can be possessed and controlled]:

Kane: I promised my doctor for some time now that I'd leave when I could. I now realize that I can't.

Bernstein: Say, Mr. Kane, as long as you're promising, there's a lot of pictures and statues in Europe you haven't bought yet.

Kane: You can't blame me, Mr. Bernstein. They've been making statues for two thousand years, and I've only been buying for five.

Bernstein: Promise me, Mr. Kane.

Kane: I promise you, Mr. Bernstein.

Bernstein: Thank you.

Kane: Mr. Bernstein?

Bernstein: Yes?

Kane: You don't expect me to keep any of those promises, do you?

With his fingers in his mouth, Kane whistles, signalling a line of marching band members to enter, dressed in the costumes of Catherine the Great's Russia. They are followed by dancing chorus girls carrying rifles, in keeping with Kane's interest in the growing conflict in Spain. He jests to Leland when they appear, suggesting support of jingoistic attitudes in his paper to encourage US war-mongering and entrance into the Spanish-American War (1898) [an obvious reference to William Randolph Hearst's editorial attitudes in his own paper regarding Latin America]:

Kane: Are we going to declare war on Spain or are we not?

Leland: (tersely disapproving) The Inquirer already has.

Kane: You long-faced, over-dressed anarchist. 

Leland: I am not over-dressed.

A rousing, intricately-edited song and dance number is performed like a stage show led by a baton-wielding comic named Charles Bennett (in a white-striped blazer and a straw hat). The crowd listens as Kane is given a tribute. The chorus girls, up-lit from below, echo some of the comic's lines. Soon, bachelor Charlie joins the chorus girls in the dance routine:

There is a man - a certain man

And for the poor you may be sure

That he'll do all he can!

Who is this one?

This fav'rite son?

Just by his action

Has the Traction magnates on the run?

Who loves to smoke?

Enjoys a joke?

Who wouldn't get a bit upset

If he were really broke?

With wealth and fame

He's still the same

I'll bet you five you're not alive

If you don't know his name

What is his name?...

It's Charlie Kane.

CROWD: It's Mister Kane.

He doesn't like that Mister

He likes good old Charlie Kane.

Who says a miss Was made to kiss? And when he meets one always tries To do exactly this? Who buys the food? Who buys the drinks? Who thinks that dough was made to spend? And acts the way he thinks? Now is it Joe? CROWD: No, no, no, no! I'll bet you ten you aren't men If you don't really know!

Kane has succeeded in becoming a much-respected public figure. During the celebratory singing and dancing after he steals a kiss from one of the showgirls, he suddenly removes his jacket and tosses it towards the camera (in the direction of Leland and Bernstein). Leland catches the flying jacket, a tremendous three-dimensional effect.

While Charlie dances in the background with the troupe (and his playful image with the girls is often reflected in the glass of the window), Leland (on the left) and Bernstein (on the right wearing a Rough Rider's hat) in the foreground simultaneously speak about the Chronicle staff. Bored, unimpressed, resistant and already slightly disillusioned by Kane's brash ambitions, Leland reminds Bernstein:

Leland: These men who were with the Chronicle. Weren't they just as devoted to the Chronicle politics as they are now to our policies?

Bernstein: Sure, they're just like anybody else. They got work to do, they do it! Only they happen to be the best men in the business! 

Leland: Do we stand for the same things the Chronicle stands for, Bernstein?

Bernstein: Certainly not. Listen, Mr. Kane, he'll have them changed to his kind of newspapermen in a week!

Leland: There's always a chance, of course, that they'll change Mr. Kane, without his knowing it.

While Kane is traveling on a treasure-hunting trip to Europe, Leland and Bernstein remain behind to unpack and store the sculptures in the offices of the Inquirer already crowded with statues that Kane has acquired and sent back for his collection. Bernstein receives a cable from Kane in Paris and joyously shares the news with Leland: "Look, he wants to buy the world's biggest diamond." Leland describes why he didn't accompany Kane to Europe - he would have hampered Kane's pursuit of pleasure:
Leland: Bernstein, am I a stuffed shirt? Am I a horse-faced hypocrite? Am I a New England schoolmarm? Bernstein: (revealing himself) Yes. If you thought I'd answer you any different from what Mr. Kane tells you, well, I wouldn't.
Bernstein clarifies the object of Kane's pursuit - he's not only collecting material objects and statues, but he has transited to a new stage of his life:

He's collecting somebody that's collecting diamonds. Anyway, he ain't only collecting statues.

The staff surround a close-up of a large winner's cup as Bernstein reads the Welcome message engraved on it: "Welcome Home Mr. Kane From 467 Employees of the New York Inquirer." A dapper Mr. Kane returns from his travels and bursts through the office doors, dressed in a white outfit. The camera reverses itself and follows his stride through the assembled group of editors. Kane nervously and hurriedly presents a "little social announcement" to the society editor, Miss Townsend.

One staffer alerts everyone to the view he sees from the upstairs window as he looks down on Kane's open carriage. Everyone dashes over to see Kane's pretty new fiancee riding in the carriage, framed in the window. The society editor gushes after reading the announcement out loud:
Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Monroe Norton announce the engagement of their daughter Emily Monroe Norton to Mr. Charles Foster Kane.
Emily Norton (Ruth Warrick) is the daughter of a senator and the niece of the President of the United States - a stepping-stone to the White House for Kane. During Kane's upward rise to power, youthful idealism as a prime motivator is replaced by patriarchal power. Bernstein speculates: "Before he's through, she'll be a President's wife." The staff waves farewell as the carriage pulls away - their faces are seen in the windows behind the large letters R E and R on the outside of the Inquirer's building.

Bernstein's adulations and reminiscences fade back to his office, where it is now nighttime, and the rain has stopped. He concludes his thoughts: "Miss Emily Norton was no Rosebud...It ended. And there was Susan. That ended too..." Bernstein speculates about Kane's final word - after his tragic decline:

Maybe that was something he lost. Mr. Kane was a man who lost almost everything he had.

Bernstein then suggests that Thompson go and visit Mr. Leland. Although he admits that Leland was "right" in disagreeing with Kane's exaggerated rhetoric, reformist politics, jingoistic attitudes and yellow-journalistic tactics surrounding the Spanish-American War, Bernstein nevertheless defends Kane:

Of course, he [Leland] and Mr. Kane didn't exactly see eye to eye. You take the Spanish-American War. I guess Mr. Leland was right. That was Mr. Kane's war. We didn't really have anything to fight about. But do you think if it hadn't been for that war of Mr. Kanes', we'd have the Panama Canal?

Bernstein's final words express his realism about old age and death: "Old age, it's the only disease, Mr. Thompson, that you don't look forward to being cured of."

Interview with Kane's best friend, Jedediah Leland:
(4) Thompson visits with and interviews Jedediah Leland, the college friend (and later drama critic) Kane had hired to work for him. Leland is a convalescent resident of the Huntington Memorial Hospital, a drab Manhattan retirement center on 180th Street. Thompson is viewed looking up at a large bridge that imposes itself above the hospital building. Leland, frail, a bit senile, wearing dark glasses, a cap/eyeshade and a dressing gown, and sitting in a wheelchair, opens their discussion with: "I can remember absolutely everything, young man. That's my curse - that's one of the greatest curses ever inflicted on the human race, memory."
The camera imperceptibly moves closer and closer to his face as he talks. Other patients are seen in their wheelchairs in the grey background. Leland remembers that Kane "behaved like a swine" but was never "brutal - he just did brutal things. Maybe I wasn't his friend, but if I wasn't, he never had one. Maybe I was what you nowadays call a stooge." The senile, bitter man begs for cigars during their talk, trying to sneak them past hospital doctors and nurses.
Leland discusses the early great days in Kane's newspaper empire and then offers a criticism of Kane's lack of conviction as he selfishly turns to politics:
I suppose he had some private sort of greatness, but he kept it to himself. He never gave himself away. He never gave anything away, he just left you a tip, hmm? Ha. He had a generous mind. I don't suppose anybody ever had so many opinions. But he never believed in anything except Charlie Kane. He never had a conviction except Charlie Kane in his life. I suppose he died without one. It must have been pretty unpleasant. Of course, a lot of us check out without having any special convictions about death, but we do know what we believe in, we do believe in something.
Thompson asks Leland about his understanding of "Rosebud," Charlie's dying words. Leland recalls having read about it in the Inquirer and offers his opinion: "I never believed in anything I saw in the Inquirer." Then, Leland recalls Emily Kane, Kane's first wife, as a "very nice girl" who he knew in dancing school. Leland comments on their disintegrating marriage after a short honeymoon period: "Well, after the first couple of months, she and Charlie didn't see much of each other except at breakfast. It was a marriage just like any other marriage."
Leland's thoughts are pictured in one of the most talked-about, virtuoso sequences in the film - the breakfast table montage comprised of 32 shots over two minutes and 11 seconds. Succinctly portrayed, Kane's rapidly deteriorating and failing marriage to Emily is visually captured - from their adoring, talkative, newly-wed days to their stony silence as an irreconciliable couple nine years later. The flashback is introduced with a slow dissolve from a medium shot of Leland.
The passage of time and Kane's first dissolving marriage over the course of nine years is vividly conveyed within six perfectly-crafted scenes by the technique of quick, swish pans, wipes or jump cuts. Each one marks the passage of time through each of the six progressive intervals. Changes in time are also reflected in differences in lighting (soft vs. harsh), changes in their positioning (they are gradually seated further apart or opposite from each other at the table), the special effects outside the window, the food, their hairstyles (including the appearance of Charles' mustache) and their wardrobes. Each transition is also accompanied by waltz music on the soundtrack that progressively becomes more dissonant as the marriage disintegrates.
 Six Scenes in Breakfast Montage:
· (With lilting, romantic music in the background) Very much in love at the start of their marriage, Emily and Charles (who calls his new bride "beautiful") are still dressed in fancy evening clothes after having just returned from a whirlwind night of six parties. They are sitting close to each other at their breakfast room table for an early morning meal in the dawn's light. Charles is 'waiting' on Emily - signified by the dish-towel hanging over his arm. The fast life is new to Emily, and she is worried about what the servants will think - since they have stayed up all night (and the time can be interpreted as either 'early' or 'late'). Emily complains to Charles about the professional demands of the Inquirer on his (and their) personal time:
· Emily: I don't see why you have to go straight out to the newspaper.

· Charles: You never should have married a newspaperman. They're worse than sailors. I absolutely adore you.

· Emily: (suggestively) Oh Charles, even newspapermen have to sleep.

· Charles: (ready to comply) I'll call Mr. Bernstein, I'll have him put off my appointments until noon.
· Again, Emily (in a dressing gown) reproachfully complains to Charles (now with a mustache) about his obsessive work schedule. She is separated from him by a bouquet of flowers (in the foreground), and they sit at opposite sides of the table:
· Emily: Do you know how long you kept me waiting last night while you went to the newspaper for ten minutes? What do you do in a newspaper in the middle of the night?

· Charles: Emily, my dear, your only correspondent is the Inquirer.
· Emily is bothered by Kane's criticism of the Presidential office in public, an office she considers a sacred cow institution:
· Emily: Sometimes, I think I'd prefer a rival of flesh-and-blood. 

· Charles: Oh Emily, I don't spend that much time on the newspaper. 

· Emily: It isn't just the time. It's what you print - attacking the President.

· Charles: You mean Uncle John.

· Emily: I mean the President of the United States.

· Charles: He's still Uncle John, and he's still a well-meaning fathead who's letting a pack of high-pressure crooks run his administration. This whole oil scandal...

· Emily: He happens to be the President, Charles, not you.

· Charles: That's a mistake that will be corrected one of these days.
· In the sixth year of their marriage, they disagree over a gift that a matronly Emily states - "Your Mr. Bernstein" gave to their infant son (Junior). Emily, a true blue-blood, calls the gift: "the most incredible atrocity." [Although unidentified, was the gift a Jewish Menorah or Star of David, thereby providing commentary on anti-Semitism?] More objects appear on the table to separate them. They argue over whether the gift should be in the nursery at all:
· Emily: I simply can't have it in the nursery.

· Charles: Mr. Bernstein is apt to pay a visit to the nursery now and then.

· Emily: Does he have to?

· Charles: (sternly) Yes!

· Emily: Really, Charles!
· Now, the couple appears to be in a formal dining room. They are also stiff and sharp toward each other. Charles angrily displays his oppressive egotism:
· Emily: People will think...

· Charles: (cutting in antagonistically and angrily) ...what I tell them to think! 

· (He accentuates his last word by clinking down his coffee cup.)
· In the last scenario, in their ninth year of a now-disunified marriage, there is no verbal dialogue or exchange between them - only sinister-sounding music on the soundtrack. In the last panoramic view as the camera tracks backwards, they unhappily read rival newspapers at breakfast: Emily disloyally reads the competitive Chronicle in silent protest, while Kane (smoking a pipe) reads his own Inquirer. Each of them has become icy to each other, and more and more distant (both physically and emotionally) at opposite ends of a long table.
The scene dissolves back to a medium view of Leland during his interview with Thompson on the roof garden of the hospital.

Once he achieved power through his newspaper empire, Kane also quested for love, but it was unreciprocated - as explained by Leland: "All he wanted out of life was love...he just didn't have any to give." Kane confused the personal and political realms, because of his desperate need for love, after being taken from his mother in early childhood:

He married for love. Love. That's why he did everything. That's why he went into politics. It seems we weren't enough, he wanted all the voters to love him too. Guess all he really wanted out of life was love. That's Charlie's story, how he lost it. You see, he just didn't have any to give. Well, he loved Charlie Kane of course, very dearly, and his mother, I guess he always loved her.

Leland then moves on to discuss Kane's second marriage to singer Susan Alexander, whom Charlie called "a cross section of the American public," suggesting that he believes this proved he could be loved by the people. "Guess he couldn't help it. She must have had something for him. Well, that first night, according to Charlie, all she had was a toothache." [While Emily was associated with Kane's political and public life, Susan represented his personal and private life - a return to his first love for his mother.]

In a chance encounter on a wet, New York City street corner, Kane meets twenty-two year old Susan. Emerging from a drug store where she has had a prescription filled for a painful toothache, she giggles at him after a passing carriage splashes mud on him: "You're funny, mister. You've got dirt on your face." Having both suffered minor misfortunes (a toothache and muddiness), they commiserate with each other. He accepts her offer to get hot water in her nearby rooming house to clean the "mud" off of him. As they enter her apartment, the camera lingers behind in the hallway, almost voyeuristically, and views them through the light of the open door. Kane closes the door to Susan's room, causing the camera to rush forward, stopping only when Susan reopens the door. In the open doorway, she tells him: "Excuse me, but my landlady prefers me to keep this door open when I have a gentleman caller."

She sits at a dressing table in front of a mirror, decorated with a portrait of herself as a child, and where the snowstorm glass paperweight is again seen. [Second Appearance of Glass Ball in Film - chronologically, this is its first appearance - and represents or symbolizes Susan. It reminds Kane of his boyhood home.] To take her mind off the pain of her tooth and make her laugh, he wiggles both his ears at the same time, and she laughs in the reflection. He explains it was a boyhood trick taught him at one of the world's best boys school by the present President of Venezuela.

During their conversation, filmed in gauzy fuzziness, the camera captures their growing attraction for each other in a series of close-ups and shot/counter-shots. Kane cleverly makes illusory hand-shadows of a rooster on the wall to entertain her. She is impressed by his ability to make shadows on the wall come alive: "Gee, you know an awful lot of tricks. You're not a professional magician, are you?" He is delighted that she likes him even though she does not know who he is or how wealthy he is. She expresses a simplicity, lack of sophistication and ignorance that appeals to him. Kane feels a sentimental empathy towards her:

Susan: I don't know many people.

Kane: I know too many people. I guess we're both lonely.

He tells Susan what his mission was that evening - he was on his way to his warehouse "in search of (his) youth" and to look at his mother's belongings after her death [Do the belongings of his past include his boyhood sled?]:

I was on my way to the Western Manhattan Warehouse in search of my youth. You see, my mother died a long time ago and her things were put in storage out West. There wasn't any other place to put them. I thought I'd send for them now. Tonight, I was going to take a look at them. You know, a sort of sentimental journey.

[Note: during restoration efforts, a lone 35mm master negative and soundtrack of Orson Welles' The Tragedy of Othello: The Moor of Venice (1952), long thought to have been destroyed, was found at the New Jersey-based Western Manhattan Warehouse -- an interesting, synchronous coincidence that part of Welles' 'youth' was also discovered there. In Welles' version of Othello as with Citizen Kane, the title character of the Moor was already dead at the start, and then the facts were investigated.]

He also explains his profession:

I run a couple of newspapers. What do you do?

After mentioning his own mother (only the second time in the film), Kane learns that Susan works in a sheet music store as a salesgirl. Her career ambition to be an opera singer was mostly her mother's idea:
I wanted to be a singer, I guess. That is, I didn't, my mother did.
[Later, Susan charges that Kane forced - or bullied - her into being an opera singer against her will, using the pretext that he was improving her hidden talent.] He requests that she sing for him while playing the piano in the parlor. [The combination of nostalgic reminders of his lost childhood and past, the glass ball, and thoughts of his mother become connected to Susan's singing in this crucial scene. The scene also has metaphoric sexual connotations in the way she performs for him.] He presides quietly to her right, pipe-smoking and contented (he doesn't appraise her singing ability correctly - even at this early stage) - listening to her struggling notes. The last line of Susan's song, taken from The Barber of Seville can be translated: "I have sworn it, I will conquer."

In another "lightning mix" (linking sexual and political conquest) - another of the film's ingenious transitions, his quiet applause (hand-clapping) for her private piano recital for him dissolves into applause during Jedediah Leland's campaign speech for Kane before a small crowd. [His interest in Susan through applause is ultimately linked to his downfall in the campaign due to an affair with Susan.] Kane seeks election as governor of New York in the 1916 elections. Leland introduces Kane on a workingman's ticket to a small outdoor audience, describing him with mythic proportions:

...the fighting liberal, the friend of the working man, the next governor of this state, who entered upon this campaign...

The scene jump cuts to Kane's memorable political speech in vast Madison Square Garden in front of a gigantic poster of himself - on the eve of the gubernatorial election. The echoing, booming Kane voice finishes Leland's words (in another "lightning mix"), a dramatic dovetailing of scenes to illustrate Kane's quick rise to power:

...with one purpose only, to point out and make public the dishonesty, the downright villainy of Boss Jim W. Gettys' political machine, now in complete control of the government of this state. I made no campaign promises, because until a few weeks ago, I had no hope of being elected. Now however, I am something more than a hope. Jim Gettys, Jim Gettys has something less than a chance. Every straw vote, every independent poll shows that I'll be elected. Now I can afford to make some promises. The working man, the working man and the slum child know they can expect my best efforts in their interests. The nation's ordinary citizens know that I'll do everything in my power to protect the underprivileged, the underpaid, and the underfed.

In the enthusiastic audience that is captivated by Kane's rousing speech, his son Junior sits in awe with his mother:

Junior: Mother, is Pop governor yet?

Emily: Not yet, Junior.

Kane's egotistical oratory and campaign goals center on ending corruption. His rivalry focuses on political boss and opponent Jim Gettys. Kane angrily makes one firm, final promise to his supporters - to imprison by his first official act as governor his incumbent opponent:

But here's one promise I'll make, and Boss Jim Gettys knows I'll keep it. My first official act as governor of this state will be to appoint a special district attorney to arrange for the indictment, prosecution, and conviction of Boss Jim W. Gettys.

After these threatening words, an unseen Gettys is sighted on a balcony high above Madison Square Garden, watching Kane on the stage below. Gettys turns and puts on his hat - off to a damaging rendezvous that will ultimately dash Kane's election hopes. The crowd roars its approval as band music plays a rousing number - Kane is heavily favored and expected to win the governor's race. As he leaves triumphantly, Emily sends their son Junior home in the car with the chauffeur - the family is symbolically broken up. With self-possessed dignity, Emily sits in a taxi wrapped in a white fur and melodramatically confronts him with a note she has received and suspicions she has of an affair he is conducting at 185 W. 74th Street (the house Kane has provided for Susan). Kane accompanies Emily by taxi to Susan's apartment. When they arrive, Kane is familiarly greeted by name by the maid at the front door: "Come right in, Mr. Kane."

Emily glances stiffly at Charles and they enter the building and proceed up the stairs at the start of the tense, brilliant, emotionally-effective confrontation scene. Waiting apprehensively at the top of the stairs is Susan, who admits that Gettys forced her to write a letter to Emily to smear and expose Kane's relationship and affair with her:

Charlie, he forced me to send your wife that letter. I didn't want to. He's been saying the most terrible -

Gettys (Ray Collins) appears in the doorway of Susan's place as a menacing, black silhouetted shadow. Trapped like a dog, Kane is incensed by Gettys' tactics and threatens to break his neck right there. Emily calmly cautions Charles to keep his reason:

Charles. Your breaking this man's neck would scarcely explain this note. (She reads the note outloud) 'Serious consequences for Mr. Kane, for yourself and for your son.'... (To Susan) What does this mean, Miss - ?

Susan introduces herself to Emily and admits to writing the letter, but it was only after Gettys threatened her, as the blackmailer explains: "She just sent it because I made her see it wouldn't be smart for her not to send it."

In the remarkably-directed scene in the apartment, in a two-minute unbroken shot with dramatic use of lighting for emphasis and precise blocking and placement of characters, Kane, Emily, Susan, and Gettys discuss the affair and how it will affect the race for governor. Gettys refuses to be called a gentleman by Kane:

I'm not a gentleman. (To Emily) Your husband's only trying to be funny calling me one. I don't even know what a gentleman is. (He steps forward into the light to tell Emily that he has a more honorable character than the unscrupulous Kane himself.) You see, my idea of a gentleman...Well, Mrs. Kane, if I owned a newspaper and I didn't like the way somebody was doing things, some politician say, I'd fight him with everything I had. Only I wouldn't show him in a convict's suit with stripes so his children could see the picture in the paper, or his mother.

Gettys is fighting for both his political life and his own existence. He counter-threatens to make the affair public by exposing Kane's extra-marital relationship with Susan in every newspaper in the state not owned by Kane, blackmailing him with the information to get Kane to withdraw from the race. The scandalous information would tarnish the public image that Kane had carefully nurtured in his moral crusade and campaign. Gettys proposes that Kane explain that his withdrawal is due to illness and threatens to make the headlines look bad if he doesn't withdraw:

Unless Mr. Kane makes up his mind by tomorrow that he's so sick he has to go away for a year or two, Monday morning, every paper in this state, except his, will carry the story I'm going to give them...The story about him and Miss Alexander...We got evidence that'll look bad in the headlines. Do you want me to give you the evidence Mr. Kane? I'd rather Mr. Kane withdrew without having to get the story published.

As a counterpoint to the vengeful rivalry, both Susan and Emily voice their own views:

Susan (in a shrill, selfish voice): What about me? (turning to Kane) Charlie, he said my name'd be dragged through the mud. That everywhere I went from now on...

Emily (in a calm, determined voice): There seems to be only one decision you can make Charles. I'd say it had been made for you.

Kane: You can't tell me the voters of this state...

Emily: I'm not interested in the voters of this state right now. I am interested in our son.

Ultimately, Kane doesn't consider the consequences of his actions on his family and on his professional reputation (or on Susan's). He refuses to give up the race, in effect self-obsessively renouncing his own family and ultimately forfeiting the election. As he steps forward into the light, Kane decides to remain and stay with Susan and face a public scandal rather than return home with Emily. He insists on remaining wholly autonomous, forsaking good sense and reason:

Charles: I'm staying here. I can fight this all alone.

Emily: Charles, if you don't listen to reason, it may be too late.

Charles: Too late. For what? For you and this public thief to take the love of the people of this state away from me?

Susan: (begging) Charlie, you got other things to think about. Your little boy, you don't want him to read about you in the papers.

Charles: There's only one person in the world who decides what I'm going to do, and that's me.

Emily: You decided what you were going to do, Charles, some time ago.

As Emily and Gettys leave and descend the apartment building staircase, Kane chases after and shouts down to them:

Don't worry about me. I'm Charles Foster Kane! I'm no cheap, crooked politician, trying to save himself from the consequences of his crimes. Gettys! I'm going to send you to Sing Sing. Sing Sing Gettys. Sing Sing.

Kane's threats and insults are powerless - his words are silenced by the closing of the front door and the sound of an auto horn.

Outside the door of Susan's house, Mrs. Kane waits for her car ride. Gettys and Mrs. Kane walk off in opposite directions. The live image freezes on the doorway, the camera withdraws, and then the doorway is seen as part of the newspaper photograph of the "love nest" underThe Chronicle's headlines broadcasting: "CANDIDATE KANE CAUGHT IN LOVE NEST WITH 'SINGER'" The picture is captioned: "THE HIGHLY MORAL MR. KANE AND HIS TAME 'SONGBIRD.'" A subheading reads: "Candidate Kane Caught in Love Nest With Singer, Entrapped by Wife as Love Pirate Kane Refuses to Quit Race." The story is told to the media and Kane's political dreams and aspirations are shattered by newspaper accounts of the affair. He loses the race and a possible stepping-stone to the Presidency.

Jedediah Leland, a once-ardent Kane supporter, is offered a Chronicle but responds bitterly, "No thanks." He swings through the saloon doors of a local bar. In the offices of The Inquirer, Bernstein must decide between two alternative headlines for the front page of Kane's own paper: "KANE ELECTED" or "CHARLES FOSTER KANE DEFEATED, FRAUD AT POLLS!" He chooses the latter. A drunken Leland staggers into the confetti-strewn makeshift campaign headquarters of the newspaper offices following the defeat. [To appear realistically drunk for this scene, Cotten remained awake for 24 hours before this scene was shot. At one point in the conversation, he flubs his line and says "dramatic crimiticism" - causing a grinning reaction from Welles.] As the dejected staff leave the office, the melancholy tune A PocoNo is heard. In the background, Kane's campaign poster has the shadows of the venetian blinds forming bars across it.

Kane reflects on his loss (in a scene filmed with camera angles shooting upwards) as Leland confronts and accuses him of being a self-serving egomaniac - patronizing in his political/civic relationships with his readership (and in his personal relationships). Leland is disillusioned and disgusted by Kane's arrogance in assuming that the people would vote for him despite the scandal:

Kane: I set back the sacred cause of reform, is that it? All right, that's the way they want it, the people have made their choice. It's obvious the people prefer Jim Gettys to me.

Leland (as he speaks, only Kane's pants leg can be seen at the left of the frame): You talk about the people as though you owned them, as though they belong to you. Goodness. As long as I can remember, you've talked about giving the people their rights, as if you can make them a present of Liberty, as a reward for services rendered...Remember the working man? 

Kane: I'll get drunk too, Jedediah, if it'll do any good.

Leland: Aw, it won't do any good. Besides, you never get drunk. You used to write an awful lot about the workingman...He's turning into something called organized labor. You're not going to like that one little bit when you find out it means that your workingman expects something is his right, not as your gift! Charlie, when your precious underprivileged really get together, oh boy! That's going to add up to something bigger than your privileges! Then I don't know what you'll do! Sail away to a desert island probably and lord it over the monkeys! [imagery of Xanadu and its private zoo]

Kane: I wouldn't worry about it too much, Jed. There'll probably be a few of them there to let me know when I do something wrong.

Leland (sneering): Mmm, you may not always be so lucky...You don't care about anything except you. You just want to persuade people that you love 'em so much that they ought to love you back. Only you want love on your own terms. Something to be played your way, according to your rules.

Leland asks to be transferred to the Chicago paper to be their drama critic. Kane protests but gives in when Leland offers to resign. Kane doesn't want his friend to leave New York so soon: "I warn you Jedediah, you're not going to like it in Chicago. The wind comes howling in off the lake and gosh only knows if they ever heard of Lobster Newburg." Kane proposes an ironic toast, the most definitive line in the film:

A toast, Jedediah, to love on my terms. Those are the only terms anybody ever knows - his own.

Shortly afterward, Susan becomes his second wife. [Emily and his son conveniently die in a car crash, since the Hays Production Code would never have allowed Kane to divorce Emily or marry while she was still estranged and alive.] Headlines "KANE MARRIES SINGER" dissolve into a post-wedding scene, as Susan and Kane come down stairs as newlyweds, crushed by swarming photographers and reporters. Armed with a cane, Kane fights them off as they force their way through the crowd to an open carriage. One battered photographer from the Inquirer begs:

Reporter: Hey, Mr. Kane, I'm from the Inquirer.

Kane: Huh? All right, fire away, boys. I used to be a reporter myself.

Susan is giggling helplessly, carrying a large bedraggled bouquet of roses tied with a big ribbon. In the backseat of the carriage, Kane responds to a question about his future in politics, implying that politics is through with him. Already, Kane speaks for her - an emerging trait that will eventually drive her away:

Kane: Am I through with politics? I should say vice versa. We're gonna be a great opera star.

Reporter: Are you going to sing at the Metropolitan, Mrs. Kane?

Kane: We certainly are.

With his political career going nowhere after losing the election for governor, he attempts to use his wealth and influence to make his newlywed wife a success. Kane serves as Susan's patron and promotes her as a successful opera singer. As they drive away in the carriage, the headline "KANE BUILDS OPERA HOUSE" dissolves into view - he builds her a $3 million opera house in Chicago.

The front page headline dissolves into a closeup of Susan's fear-stricken face during final moments of backstage preparation for her debut in Salammbo as an opera singer on the Chicago stage of the new opera house. [Producer John Houseman, not composer Bernard Herrmann, wrote the libretto for the fictitious French Oriental opera, based upon Racine's Athalie, Phedre, and others, for the scenes of Susan's debut.] Terrified by the grandiose preparations, Susan is given last minute instruction by her Italian voice teacher - he screams: "No, no, no, no, no." In the absurd scene, final arrangements are hurriedly being made: props are set, Susan's costume is readied, and other players move back and forth to their positions. When the opera begins after an overhead cue light has snapped on, the curtain shadow rises and Susan's pathetic diva voice sings to the audience. The camera leaves the figure of Susan and moves slowly upwards in a vertical boom shot to high above the stage in the flies and catwalk area, where one of two technical stagehands holds his nose to gesture his opinion of her aria - her singing literally stinks. [This famous upward shot, that only seems continuous and unbroken, is an example of an 'invisible wipe'. The middle section between the stage and the high catwalk area is actually a view of an RKO studio miniature model.]

Susan's career has become a test not of her own singing or talent, but of Kane's own power and deluded judgment. His attempts fail miserably when, presenting her at his own theater in a lavish, over-embellished production, the debut performance is depicted as a miserable disaster. Kane enters the door of the dark city room offices of the Chicago Daily Inquirer following the performance where he overhears the staff editors gloating to Bernstein over the self-aggrandizing, favorable, "swell" and "enthusiastic" reviews that have been written about Susan's performance. One of the editors tells Kane that they have obediently covered all angles except one notice that still is to come: "Everything has been done exactly to your instructions, Mr. Kane. We've just two spreads of two pictures..." Kane expectantly wants to read Leland's review of the dramatic merits of Susan's debut.

Kane finds a drunken Jedediah Leland, now the Chicago dramatic critic, slumped over his typewriter, the unwritten review still in the typewriter. Bernstein reads what Leland wrote about Susan's operatic debut performance, before he passed out in an inebriated stupor from a bottle of whiskey:

'Miss Susan Alexander, a pretty but hopelessly incompetent amateur, last night opened the new Chicago Opera House in a performance of - I still can't pronounce that name, Mr. Kane. 'Her singing, happily, is no concern of this department. Of her acting, it is absolutely impossible to...'

Kane rips the review out of the typewriter and dictates what would be the natural, scathing conclusion to what Leland has already written in his critique: "...say anything except that in the opinion of this reviewer, it represents a new low. The performance, as a whole, was..." Kane finishes Leland's notice by usurping his identity and ordering a typewriter: "I'm going to finish Mr. Leland's notice."

A closeup of large letters appears on the screen: "W-E-A-K" as the four letters are pounded into the paper. [The entire rewritten review follows:
...weak and incomprehensible. While it is true that a wealth of training has been expended on the voice of Miss Alexander, the result has been pathetitc [sic] in the extreme, inasmuch as she lacks tonal purity, volume, and the nuances of enunciation so important for the grand opera diva. "LACKS STAGE PRESENCE" Another grave fault in her performance was lack of stage pres-...]
The sound of Kane's typewriter is heard in the background as Leland revives in the inner office and raises his head off his typewriter. Bernstein informs Leland that Kane is finishing Leland's review in the spirit in which the critic had started it:
Mr. Kane is finishing your review just the way you started it - he's writing a bad notice like you wanted it to be. I guess that'll show you.
But Leland wrongly assumes that Charlie is fixing it up. He walks into the outer offices and finds Kane pounding away on a typewriter, writing the conclusion to his own review. In another remarkable deep-focus scene, Kane is in close-up on the left of the screen facing the camera as he taps on the keys of the typewriter. Jed staggers toward him from a distance, approaching him through the entire length of the newsroom.

Kane shows his awareness of his associate's presence behind him with a roll of his eyes. Leland responds to Kane's greeting ("Hello, Jedediah") with: "Hello, Charlie. I didn't know we were speaking." Kane moves the typewriter carriage to the right margin, so that after he answers: "Sure we're speaking, Jedediah - you're fired!" he can accentuate his words with a noisy carriage return to the left margin. This marks the inevitable end of Leland's friendship with Kane.

Reporter Thompson asks Leland why he was fired. In a dissolve back to the hospital, a small image of Kane typing the review is seen in the upper right of the screen for a moment, and then Leland replies to the question - offering a rationale for Kane's insistence that Susan be an opera singer:
Thompson: Everybody knows that story, Mr. Leland, but why did he do it? How could a man write a notice like that? Leland: You just don't know Charlie. He thought that by finishing that notice, he could show me he was an honest man. He was always trying to prove something. That whole thing about Susan being an opera singer. That was trying to prove something. You know what the headline was the day before the election? - "Candidate Kane found in love nest with quote, singer, unquote." He was gonna take the quotes off the singer.
Leland relates how he never responded to a letter he received from Kane five years earlier, and often thought of Kane's lonely last years at Xanadu - a monumental 'Coliseum':
Leland: Five years ago, he wrote from that place down there in the South, uh, what's it called? Uh? Shangri-La? El Dorado? Sloppy Joe's?...Xanadu...I guess he was pretty lonely down there in that coliseum all those years. He hadn't finished it when she left him. He never finished it. He never finished anything, except my notice. Of course, he built the joint for her. Thompson: That must have been love. Leland: Aw, I don't know. He was disappointed in the world so he built one of his own, an absolute monarchy. It was something bigger than an opera house, anyway.
Shortly thereafter, Leland is led away from the interview by two nurses (whose heads are unseen), after begging for more cigars. And then gives his final words, delivered jokingly, to Thompson about his own mortality - he mentions a young doctor who's "got an idea he wants to keep me alive." [Bernstein's earlier parting words to Thompson, in contrast, reflect a resignation toward old age and death: "Old age, it's the only disease, Mr. Thompson, that you don't look forward to being cured of."]

Second Interview with Kane's ex-wife Susan:
(5) On a return visit to Atlantic City, Thompson returns to a drunken Susan at the cheap El Rancho nightclub (in the same violating movement through the sign - now NOT flashing - and broken skylight - symbols of the decline in Susan's fortunes since Kane's death). [This second camera movement through the nightclub roof is accomplished by a dissolve.] He is able to persuade her to tell her part of the story. At a table amidst imitation-tropical decor, with the jazzy sound of In a Mizz being played on a piano (by uncredited, soon-to-be-famous Nat King Cole), Thompson, with his back to the camera, questions Susan. She remembers that Kane:
was really interested in my voice. What do you suppose he built that opera house for? I didn't want it. I didn't want to sing. It was his idea. Everything was his idea, except my leaving him.
Her flashback tells of her singing lessons, her operatic career, and their final claustrophobic days together at Xanadu. Her ravaged face in the nightclub dissolves slowly to a scene of vocal lessons, where a younger Susan is viewed. She is forced to practice her singing with Matisti (Fortunio Bonanova, a real-life opera singer), her voice teacher and opera coach. In another remarkable deep-focus shot in the vast room, a piano is positioned in the foreground, with Matisti gesturing and instructing on the left and Susan singing off-pitch on the right. In the far background, Kane enters the room through a door and watches the lesson undetected, exerting his domineering presence over the scene. Her music teacher believes she is devoid of talent: "Some people can sing. Some can't. Impossible! Impossible!" Forcefully exerting his will over her lessons, Kane approaches behind Matisti and speaks abruptly: "It's not your job to give Mrs. Kane your opinion of her talents. You're supposed to train her voice Signor Matisti, nothing more." Matisti fears being "the laughingstock of the musical world," believing Susan's shrill and off-key voice is untrainable.

Her disastrous, opening debut performance in Salammbo is seen again, from her recollected point of view. The overhead cue light once again snaps on. As the curtain rises, the subjective camera view looks out at the footlights but cannot see into the dark, hostile void of the audience. Kane sits inexorably in his private box while intently watching the stage down below where Susan, with two huge blonde braids, is a tiny figure in his sight. While Bernstein snoozes, Leland (who tears up the program into little strips during the performance - and promptly gets drunk after the performance) views the opera with disinterest from his vantage point. Reacting as if it is he who is personally humiliated, Kane is startled when he overhears someone's criticism of Susan's singing: "Perfectly dreadful." The finale, in which Susan falls back on cushions, is greeted with scant, weak applause from a bored audience. Kane stands and applauds loudly for her in a one-man standing ovation long after everyone else has ceased.

Back in the hotel room, Susan, with a shrill and vulgar voice, reads Jed Leland's "Stage Review," (the review that Kane had completed). She reacts with furious rage at Kane over the paper's bad review:

Stop telling me he's your friend. Friend don't write that kind of review. All these other papers pannin' me, I could expect that. But for The Inquirer to run a thing like that spoilin' my whole debut...Friend! Not the kind of friends I know. But of course, I'm not high class like you and I never went to any swell school.

A delivery boy delivers an envelope from Leland and as Kane opens it, Susan shrieks at him in a shrill, high-decibel voice for giving Leland a parting severance check of $25,000:

Is that somethin' from him? Charlie! As for you, you ought to have your head examined. Sendin' him a letter tellin' him he's fired with a $25,000 check in it. What kind of firing do you call that? You did send him a check for $25,000, didn't ya?

In the envelope, Leland has returned the check ripped into shreds and a folded-up copy of The Inquirer's "Declaration of Principles" - Kane's idealistic statement that no special interests are going to interfere with the truth. [The juxtaposition of Kane's earlier idealism with his trenchant control over Susan's career are strikingly contrasted here.] As she screams: "What's that?...What?...What is it?" Kane answers her and calls the "Declaration" an "antique." As he rips up the manifesto, Susan demands an end to her singing career but he imperiously orders her to continue her singing. He looms over her:

Susan: ...My singin'. I'm through. I never wanted to do it in the first place.

Kane: You will continue with your singing, Susan. I don't propose to have myself made ridiculous.

Susan: (exasperated, she screams back) You don't propose to have yourself made ridiculous! What about me? I'm the one who's got to do the singin'. I'm the one who gets the razzberries. Why don't you let me alone?

Unable to accept her pleas to stop, he walks over to her, casting a darkening shadow over her frightened face, and again orders her to sing: "...I will not tell it to you again. You will continue with your singing." Susan is unrealistically forced and pressured to continue her operatic career, and in a "montage," the show tours throughout the country, to cities where Inquirer papers are located - Washington, San Francisco, St. Louis, Detroit, and New York. The papers all give her glowing reviews. But her career fizzles out and the show collapses, symbolized by the flickering and blackening of a filament bulb in the cue light, and the slow decline of her voice on the soundtrack, at the conclusion of the dissolving, frenzied, montage display of various headlines from Inquirer newspapers throughout the country:
· Washington Ovation for Susan Alexander (Washington, D.C. Inquirer)
· Susan Alexander Opens San Francisco Opera Season (San Francisco, CA Inquirer)
· St. Louis Debut Scheduled For Susan Alexander (St. Louis, MO Inquirer)
· Detroit Has "Sell Out" for Susan Alexander (Detroit, MI Inquirer)
· NEW YORK IN FUROR FOR SUSAN ALEXANDER (New York, NY Inquirer)
Another brilliant example of deep-focus photography in the film is the scene following Susan's terrible New York performance - the sequence of her attempted suicide by taking poison. In her locked room, a bottle of poison, a glass, and a spoon are seen in close-up in the extreme foreground. In mid-range, Susan's head lies in a shadow on the pillow. In the background is the door to the room under which there is a bright strip of light. The sounds of Kane's persistent and impatient pounding on the locked door from outside are heard, as well as Susan's uneven, heavy breathing from inside. He bursts in to find her on the bed. A doctor is summoned, and Kane refuses to accept her deliberate act of suicide, refusing to believe that she would want to leave his world. Kane explains away the facts of the deed as the result of the strain and excitement of preparing for a new opera.

Their relationship has begun to collapse, showing signs of strain under his tyrannical pressure. Susan tells Charlie, who keeps a vigil at her bedside day and night, how her feelings meant nothing to him:

I couldn't make you see how I felt, Charlie. But I couldn't go through with the singing again. You don't know what it means to know that people are...that a whole audience just doesn't want you.

Although Kane responds with words typical of his own struggle to be a political candidate in the face of defeat: "That's when you've got to fight them," he is forced to realize that he can push her no further, and he accepts her request by consoling her (and himself): "All right, you won't have to fight them any more. It's their loss."

He builds her a private castle-mansion in Florida named Xanadu (where lights are aglow), into which they both retreat and isolate themselves. Kane's gloomy, palatial old age is portrayed with hollow tones as he wanders the echoing halls of the cavernous, eerie grandiosity of the monumental Xanadu. In the grand hall, there are two large Egyptian figures and a descending staircase. Susan does not like being forced to live there - imprisoned in domesticity and preserved as if in a museum. In front of a vast imported Scottish Stuart fireplace [that appears normal size at first on account of the deep-focus optical illusion], Susan endlessly assembles a giant jigsaw puzzle of a scenic landscape - her only way to 'travel' and escape to other places. She feels imprisoned and unable to travel to distant places. She grows increasingly miserable, frustrated, lonely, desperate and bored - and misses the excitement of New York.

Kane's voice echos across the huge room as he comes upon Susan at the table: "Jigsaw puzzles?" She asks about the time, unable to distinguish night from day:

Susan: Charlie. What time is it?

Kane: 11:30.

Susan: In New York?

Kane: Hmm?

Susan: I said what time is it in New York?

Kane: 11:30.

Susan: Night?

Kane: Hmm, hmm. The bulldog's just gone to press.

Susan: Well, hooray for the bulldog. Gee! 11:30. The show's are just gettin' out. People are goin' to nightclubs and restaurants. Course we're different, because we live in a palace.

Kane: You always said you wanted to live in a palace.

Susan: Oh, a person could go crazy in this dump with nobody to talk to, nobody to have any fun with...49,000 acres of nothin' but scenery and statues. I'm lonesome.

Kane: Till just yesterday, we've had no less than 50 of your friends at any one time. I think if you look carefully in the west wing, Susan, you'll find about a dozen vacationists still in residence.

Susan: You make a joke out of everything. Charlie, I want to go to New York. I'm tired of being a hostess. (He moves back to an enormous fireplace where he is engulfed by its size.) I want to have fun. Please, Charlie. Charlie, please.

Kane: Our home is here, Susan. I don't care to visit New York.

Later, she is seen assembling puzzle after puzzle (a camel, a snowscape, a turreted house, a country scene, a river with boats and weeping willows, a ship at sea) in a series of dissolves, representing the passage of time. Kane descends his staircase and then at a tremendous distance from her - he inquires about her habit of piecing together jigsaw puzzles:

Kane: What are you doing? Oh. One thing I never can understand, Susan. How do you know you haven't done 'em before?

Susan: It makes a whole lot more sense than collecting statues.

Kane: You may be right. I sometimes wonder. But you get into the habit.

Susan: Not a habit! I do it 'cause I like it.

Kane has planned a garden picnic for the next day - an opportunity for Susan's building tension to explode. Susan mocks his domineering attitude: "Invite everybody. Order everybody and me, and make 'em sleep in tents." The next day, a funeral-like entourage of black cars travels along a Florida beach to the garden picnic spot in the tropical Everglades. [In the opening newsreel, the Gulf Coast is inaccurately described as having "deserts." Notice large birds - prehistoric pterodactyls - flying across the background of the scene. They were borrowed, to save costs, from earlier RKO science-fiction films - either King Kong (1933) or its sequel Son of Kong (1933), and back-projected behind the performers.] Susan unemotionally tells Kane, dressed in a white blazer and sitting in the back seat of one of the Dusenbergs, that he is fundamentally selfish:
You never give me anything I really care about.
A close-up of a black musician singing a bluesy-jazzy song - "It Can't Be Love" - then pulls back to reveal people dancing in an outdoor scene. A pig rotates on a spit. Inside a tent, a bald, overweight Kane and Susan argue, with Susan loudly haranguing her husband about an inability to love:

Susan: Oh sure, you give me things. But that don't mean anything to you.

Kane: You're in a tent, darling. You aren't at home. I can hear you very well if you speak in a normal tone of voice.

Susan: What's the difference between giving me a bracelet or giving somebody else a hundred thousand dollars for a statue you're gonna keep crated up and never even look at? It's just money, it doesn't mean anything! You never really give me anything that belongs to you, that you care about!

Kane: Susan, I want you to stop this.

Susan: I'm not gonna stop it.

Kane: Right now!

Susan: You never gave me anything in your whole life. You just tried to bribe me into giving you something.

Kane: Susan!

Kane stands up, looming enormously over her in a dramatic camera angle shot from below. While they quarrel, the sound of the band music in the background becomes more frantic. Then, he looks down over her, disavowing that he has 'bought' and corrupted her with his wealth:

Kane: ...Whatever I do, I do because I love you.

Susan: You don't love me. You want me to love you. (She mimicks him) 'Sure, I'm Charles Foster Kane. Whatever you want, just name it and it's yours. But you've gotta love me!' (Kane slaps her.) Don't tell me you're sorry.

Kane: (coldly) I'm not sorry.

A woman's screams and cries are heard outside [a subtle auditory cue to Susan's pain].

Kane has become increasingly isolated and lonely as his publishing network begins to weaken and he feels the crippling effects. At Xanadu, Kane is surrounded by dutiful servants and a vast collection of thousands of art treasures from around the world, many still in their packing crates unopened and undisplayed. The things and objects he has obsessively collected surround both him and Susan, but provide only a sense of loss and emptiness. His newspaper chain has also lost its former strength (circulation and popularity), never recovering from the depths of the Depression. His control has been relinquished to Thatcher and Company. Susan finally builds up her courage to leave him, even in the face of his authoritative despotism.

Kane is told by the butler that Susan has been packing her bags in her bedroom since early morning. Susan's bedroom is decorated like a child's nursery, with painted animals decorating the beams (similar to the animals that decorate the grounds of the castle) and doll-house furnishings. Kane feels threatened by her departure and enters her room, slamming the door toward the camera as he asks: "Have you gone completely crazy?"

As he stands facing her [in a number of deep-focus camera shots that show full ceilings], a stuffed, limp marionette doll sits in the left foreground of the frame (paralleling the way that Susan is profiled in tandem as a 'plaything') - symbolic of her mute silence and powerlessness throughout their programmed marriage. He begs for her not to leave, but she rebels one final time - with self-assurance and an assertion of true independence:

Kane: Don't you know that our guests, everyone here, will know about this? You've packed your bags. You've sent for the car.

Susan: And left you? Of course they'll hear. I'm not saying goodbye, except to you, but I never imagined that people wouldn't know.

Kane: I won't let you go.

Susan: Goodbye Charlie. 

Kane: (pleading) Susan. Please don't go. No. Please, Susan. From now on, everything will be exactly the way you want it to be, not the way I think you want it, but - your way. You mustn't go. You can't do this to me!

Susan: I see. It's you that this is being done to! It's not me at all. Not what it means to me. I can't do this to you? (smiling oddly) Oh, yes I can.

She leaves him alone in the claustrophobic castle, walking away from him through a succession of doorways. [Her account of her departure is soon followed - below - by Raymond's version of Kane's reaction to her leaving.]

Back in Atlantic City in the half-darkened nightclub, Susan suggests that Thompson speak to Kane's butler Raymond:
Well, if you're smart, you'll get in touch with Raymond. He's the butler. You'll learn a lot from him. He knows where all the bodies are buried.
[Her line is an early example of the "bodies are buried" expression.] The reporter tells Susan that he feels sorry for Mr. Kane and she replies with a twinge of pity: "Don't you think I do?" It is already morning, and the chairs of the nightclub are stacked up and Susan's story is over. As the camera pulls up and away, she is heard saying (without moving lips): "Come around and tell me the story of your life sometime."

Interview with Kane's butler Raymond at Xanadu:
(6) At the end of the film, reporter Thompson visits Kane's castle, Xanadu, marked by a big K on the gate. He talks briefly to Kane's sinister butler/ major domo Raymond (Paul Stewart) who worked for Kane for eleven years. The self-serving Raymond, a black silhouette, calculatedly wishes to be paid $1,000 for telling what he knows. The butler tells Thompson that Kane "acted kind of funny sometimes," and did "crazy things sometimes." Raymond boasts: "I knew how to handle him; like the time his wife left him."

His memory of Susan's departure is parodied by a jolting cut to a screeching white cockatoo flapping off the balcony at Xanadu - a visually startling image. Psychologically shocked by her exit and regressing into an uncontrollable, childlike tantrum, Kane in a robot-like posture violently tears her room apart in a rage [Welles reportedly bruised and bloodied his hands in the scene], methodically smashing her lamp, phonograph, table, curtains, chest of drawers, chairs, bookshelves (with one shelf concealing a bottle of alcohol), bedside stand, and her mirrored dresser. Then he picks up in his hand the clear, snow crystal paperweight that she left behind, views the self-enclosed, peaceful world in silence, and murmurs "Rosebud." [Third Appearance of Glass Ball in Film: This is the same glass ball containing a log cabin in a snowstorm that is held in Kane's hand at the time of death, and is symbolic of his relationship to Susan.] With tears in his eyes, he walks stiffly out of her room past the guests and servants and in front of an endlessly-reflecting full-size mirrored corridor - the various distorted images of Kane represent the different angles from which observers have observed him throughout the film. After Kane passes the mirrored hallway, the camera zooms slightly forward toward the dark, empty glass.

Raymond heard Kane wistfully and calmly murmur "Rosebud" with the paperweight in his hand when Susan left. He remembers that Kane also said 'Rosebud' one other time, when he died (when the glass ball fell to the ground and shattered - symbolic of his death and the end of a relationship with Susan), but Kane "said all kinds of things that didn't mean anything." [In the film's opening scene, Kane appears to be alone when he murmurs his last word and dies. The only one who attends Kane's death is a nurse who later enters the room.] The butler shows Thompson some of the vast treasures that Kane gathered over his lifetime.

In the film's conclusion, Thompson is joined by other newsreel people who have gathered at the estate. As they talk, they walk through the enormous warehouse stacked with crates, furniture, and other possessions. An amazing crane shot tracks their progress through the boxes and statues that are being inventoried (and worth "millions - if anybody wants it"). Various objects ("junk" as well as "art") are identified that Kane collected ("never threw...away"): a 4th century Venus ("$25,000 bucks. That's a lot of money to pay for a dame without a head"), the welcome back cup, one stove from the Colorado estate sale of Mary Kane's properties ("value two dollars"), Susan's jigsaw puzzles ("we've got a lot of those"), a Burmese temple and three Spanish ceilings down the hall, and more worldly goods. [In the entourage that follows along, one glimpses the figure of a hat-wearing man smoking a cigar - future star Alan Ladd, in his film debut.]

The other reporters ask Thompson if he has discovered what 'Rosebud,' the last word on Kane's lips, means: "I wonder. You put all this stuff together...What would it spell? Charles Foster Kane - or Rosebud? How about it, Jerry?" After his rational, intellectual search for its meaning, Thompson replies that he hasn't been successful to the curious questioners?.
Questioner: Did you ever find out what it means? Jerry: No, I didn't. Questioner (Man with pipe): What did you find out about him, Jerry? Jerry: Not much really.
Jerry admits that he has not solved the secret of Rosebud, and that he has been "playing with a jigsaw puzzle." In a symbolic gesture, he puts down an unassembled jigsaw puzzle box. A female onlooker speculates: "If you could have found out what Rosebud meant, I bet that would have explained everything."

Thompson answers more fully, summing up his cynicism about simplifying the complex life of Kane, as the camera slowly moves backward and his voice echoes throughout the vast hall:

No, I don't think so. No. Mister Kane was a man who got everything he wanted and then lost it. Maybe Rosebud was something he couldn't get or something he lost. Anyway, it wouldn't have explained anything. I don't think any word can explain a man's life. No, I guess Rosebud is just a piece in a jigsaw puzzle - a missing piece. Well, come on everybody, we'll miss the train.

Only film viewers in the audience are let in on the mysterious, dramatic meaning of Rosebud after Thompson leaves, moving off with other reporters. The camera now shows the incredible accumulation of Kane's acquisitions over a lifetime. The camera slowly glides over years and years of his pitiless pieces of material goods, looking like a broken jigsaw puzzle, a deserted skyscraper city, or a metropolis when photographed from high above. [Steven Spielberg memorialized this shot in his ending to Raiders of the Lost Ark (1981), when the crated Ark of the Covenant is stored in another vast warehouse.] There in the piles of possessions are: iron bedframes, an open, wooden toybox (with a few dolls and a picture of Kane around the time of his first marriage), a pile of old newspapers wrapped in twine, a photograph of Kane as a boy with his mother, and a snow sled (that is picked up by a workman). Kane's life appears as a disjointed collection of failed energy to productively use resources.

In the basement beneath Xanadu, workers clear away the vast array of junk and articles. A workman is sorting and crating his possessions near an incinerator, a blazing furnace where items are thrown that are considered junk. The worker with the sled in his hands is told by Raymond, the butler, to toss it into the flames of the incinerator to be consumed, along with an accumulation of other possessions. The words are the final ones uttered in the film:
Throw that junk.
The sled is an enduring and beautiful symbol of Kane's life. The name "Rosebud" (and its decorative, painted blooming flower) is briefly seen on the sled in a close-up before the bonfire's heat warps and blisters the paint and it is consumed by the flames. The two sleds in the film significantly exemplify different aspects of Kane's life:
· Rosebud: decoratively-painted, placid, pretty, from nature, innocent (from his childhood home and a reminder of his mother)
· Crusader: metallic, strident, cold and heartless, crusading (received from Thatcher when Kane was taken from his home to be a ward of the impersonal banking interest)
[Does this answer the film's fundamental question? Or is it just another piece of the gigantic puzzle of his life?]
The "Rosebud" sled is a memento from Kane's childhood with his mother, a childhood that was interrupted and abandoned by the opportunities wealth and fortune bestowed upon him. When he glimpsed the snow crystal paperweight on his deathbed, Kane might have imagined the house in the globe was Mrs. Kane's boarding house, and had a fleeting, dim memory of the sled that he loved there. The sled symbolized the innocence, beauty, and love that he lost, the love that eluded him - a dying man's memory of a childhood possession that held special meaning for him.

He also might have remembered his first meeting with Susan where he first saw the globe - she was the one true love in his life (in the words of the El Rancho nightclub waiter: "Why, 'til he died, she'd just as soon talk about Mr. Kane as about anybody"). She wasn't impressed by his wealth - and they experienced a loving relationship until his tyrannical demands led her to abandon him. She left to prove that she could act independently of him (in her own words: "I can't do this to you? Oh, yes I can"). He died an old man, friendless, loveless, but wealthy and able to buy Susan's love, but not truly invested in her. His power and wealth were unable to halt his decline - his crusade to be a trust-busting champion of the people faltered amidst storehouses of wealth and opulence.

In the film's final shots - a symmetrical reversal of the film's beginning images, a dissolve shows the exterior of the Kane's palatial mansion at dusk, panning up with the black smoke of his burning possessions pouring from the chimney of his palace and filling the sky. The smoke of Kane's youth - his sled - disappears into the night sky. The camera pans down the chain-link fence where the sign "No Trespassing" is visible again as it was at the film's start. The film fades out on the "K" of the crest of the Kane estate. The audience is again left on the outside of the wire-fence - back where the story began.

The film's closing credits memorably features clips from the film highlighting or underscoring the footage with each actor's name (from the Mercury Company), to a jaunty, march version of The Charlie Kane Song. After the clips, the remainder of the cast is listed on a single card, with Orson Welles' credit listed last as simply "Kane". [Note: film critic and Citizen Kane expert Roger Ebert notably commented that this was a case of blatant "false modesty" by Welles.]
